[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Council Meeting
3 November 2021
Time

5.45 pm

Public Meeting?

YES

Type of meeting

Full Council

Venue

Council Chamber - Civic Centre, St Peter's Square, Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Membership (Quorum for this meeting is 15 Councillors)
Mayor
Deputy Mayor

Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Lab)
Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE (Lab)

Labour
Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Qaiser Azeem
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE
Cllr Olivia Birch
Cllr Dr Paul John Birch J.P.
Cllr Ian Brookfield
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Christopher Burden
Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Steve Evans

Cllr Val Evans
Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal
Cllr Rashpal Kaur
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Linda Leach
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Barbara McGarrity QN
Cllr Beverley Momenabadi

Conservative

Independent Member

Cllr Paul Appleby
Cllr Simon Bennett
Cllr Adam Collinge
Cllr Jonathan Crofts
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Christopher Haynes
Cllr Stephanie Haynes
Cllr Sohail Khan
Cllr Andrew McNeil
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Paul Singh
Cllr Udey Singh
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Ellis Turrell
Cllr Jonathan Yardley

Cllr Harman Banger

Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Stephen Simkins
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Tersaim Singh
Cllr Paul Sweet
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman
Cllr Gillian Wildman

If you are reading these papers on an electronic device you have saved the Council £11.33 and
helped reduce the Council’s carbon footprint.

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the Democratic Services team:
Contact
Tel/Email
Address

Jaswinder Kaur
01902 550320 or jaswinder.kaur@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Democratic Services, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:
Website
Email
Tel

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
01902 550320

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording, and use of social media in meetings, copies of
which are displayed in the meeting room.

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Item No.

Title

MEETING BUSINESS ITEMS
1

Apologies for absence

2

Declarations of interest

3

Minutes of previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)
[To receive minutes of the previous meeting held on 15 September 2021]

4

Communications
[To receive the Mayor’s announcements]

DECISION ITEMS
5

Report of Leader of the Council
[To receive a report from the Leader of the Council]

6

Wolves at Work 18-24 - Tackling Youth Unemployment (Pages 11 - 20)
[To approve a series of dedicated and focussed interventions to support 18-24
years olds into work over a 12 month period]

7

Overview of Electoral Cycles (Pages 21 - 42)
[To consider going out to public consultation on the Council’s electoral cycle]

8

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 - 2021 (Pages 43 - 68)
[To endorse the Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021]

9

Changes to the Constitution (Pages 69 - 76)
[To approve amendments to the Council’s Constitution]

10

Revised Petitions Scheme (Pages 77 - 96)
[To approve amendments to the Petitions Scheme]

11

Adopting a Definition of Islamophobia (Pages 97 - 106)
[To approve the adoption of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims
(APPG) definition of Islamophobia]

12

In Year Appointments for the 2021-2022 Municipal Year (Pages 107 - 142)
[To approve in year appointments]

13

Motion on Notice (Pages 143 - 144)
[That Council consider the motion received by Councillor Ellis Turrell]

14

Written Questions by Councillors (Pages 145 - 148)
[That Cabinet Members respond to questions received]

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the Council
Agenda Item No: 3
Minutes - 15 September 2021
Attendance
Mayor
Deputy Mayor

Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Lab)
Cllr Sandra Samuels OBE (Lab)

Labour
Cllr Obaida Ahmed
Cllr Qaiser Azeem
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE
Cllr Olivia Birch
Cllr Dr Paul John Birch J.P.
Cllr Ian Brookfield
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Christopher Burden
Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Craig Collingswood (V)
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar

Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Val Evans (V)
Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (V)
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal (V)
Cllr Milkinderpal Jaspal (V)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Linda Leach
Cllr Asha Mattu (V)
Cllr Barbara McGarrity QN

Conservative
Cllr Paul Appleby
Cllr Simon Bennett
Cllr Adam Collinge
Cllr Jonathan Crofts
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Christopher Haynes
Cllr Stephanie Haynes
Cllr Sohail Khan

Employees
Tim Johnson
Mark Taylor
David Pattison
Ross Cook
John Denley
Laura Phillips
Jaswinder Kaur

Cllr Beverley Momenabadi (V)
Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Susan Roberts MBE
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Stephen Simkins
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Tersaim Singh
Cllr Paul Sweet
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman (V)
Cllr Gillian Wildman

Independent Member
Cllr Andrew McNeil
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Paul Singh
Cllr Udey Singh
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Ellis Turrell
Cllr Jonathan Yardley

Cllr Harman Banger

Chief Executive
Deputy Chief Executive
Chief Operating Officer
Director of City Housing and Environment
Director of Public Health
Deputy Director of People and Change
Democratic Services Manager
The proceedings opened with Prayers

Page 5

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]
Item No.

1

Title

Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bhupinder Gakhal, John
Reynolds and Mak Singh.

2

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations of interest made.

3

Minutes of previous meeting
The Mayor proposed, the Deputy Mayor seconded, and it was resolved:
That the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 21 July 2021, be agreed as
a correct record and signed accordingly by the Mayor.

4

Communications
1.
Former Councillor Gill Walton
The Mayor was saddened to announce the death of former Councillor Gill Walton who
had passed away on 31 August. Gill represented Wednesfield North 1986 – 1994
and served on a number of committees before working as a Political Assistant in the
Labour Leaders Office. Gill retired from the Council in June 2014.
The Mayor informed Council that the funeral would take place on Thursday 30
September at 2.15 at the West Chapel, Bushbury Crematorium.
The Mayor extended the deepest sympathies of the Council to Councillor John
Reynolds and their daughter Alice.

2.
Former Councillor Tom Larkin
The Mayor was saddened to announce the death of former Councillor Tom Larkin
who had passed away on 13 August at the age of 90. Tom served on the Bilston
Municipal Borough Council in the 1960’s prior to changes to local councils, then
continued as a ward councillor for Bilston East into the early 1980’s and served on a
number of committees. He was a well-known local historian with a breadth of
knowledge about Bilston and the Black Country.
The Mayor informed Council that the funeral would take place on Friday, 17 September,
at 12noon in Holy Trinity Catholic Church, Bilston.

3.
Anne Guest MBE
The Mayor was saddened to announce the death of Mrs Anne Guest MBE, who
passed away aged 84yrs on Friday 25 June 2021 after a short illness.
Mrs Guest was well known across Wolverhampton and among
public sector figures for her commitment to her community, having established the
Spring Valley Tenants and Residents Association in 1987, while living on the estate
on Cannock Road. She also served on numerous committees including
Wolverhampton Homes’ Leasehold Forum and tenant action groups and was chair of
the Federation of Tenants Associations.

Page 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Her outstanding service to the community was recognised in October 2000 when she
was made an MBE by Prince Charles at Buckingham Palace.
The Council stood in silent tribute to the late Gill Walton, Tom Larkin and Ann Guest.
4.
Olympics 2020 (2021) and Paralympics 2020 (2021)
The Mayor reported it had been a successful summer for sport this year with Team
GB seeing great success in both the Olympics and Paralympic Games, with
Wolverhampton having been put on the global map following the delayed Olympics
and the success of Ben Whittaker in winning Silver in the boxing.
The Mayor had the pleasure of letting Ben be Honorary Mayor for the Day on
Sunday, 22 August where Ben robed as Mayor and undertook engagements at the
Art Gallery and The Way prior to being hosted by the Wolves Chairman to watch the
Wolves v Tottenham game.
The Mayor acknowledged and payed tribute to all our local competitors in both
Games.
5.
Relight Festival
The Mayor reported he attended the first ever Relight Festival which took place
under the Big Top in West Park. The festival was put on to give something back to
the people of the city after an extremely challenging 18 months dealing with the
pandemic. It had something for everyone in the family and I really enjoyed the
opening night of comedy, seeing top performers such as Reginald D Hunter and Bill
Bailey. It was a fantastic night I look forward to attending future Relight Festivals.
6.
British Empire Medal (BEM) Investiture
The Mayor was delighted to report he had earlier this day attended Birmingham
University and witnessed the investiture of Wolverhampton citizens with their British
Empire Medals, awarded in the New Year’s Honours List 2020 and 2021, and the
Queen’s Birthday Honours List 2020 and 2021. These were:








Gaynor Susan Jean Evans OBE, for services to Infection Prevention during
Covid-19
Gregory Silvester from Warstones, for services to people with learning
disabilities in sport – in recognition of his hard work.
Liz Corrigan, from Bilston, for her services to nursing during the Covid-19
pandemic.
Joanne Jackson, from Wednesfield, for voluntary service to young people in
Wolverhampton through Girlguiding UK.
Councillor Dr Paul Birch, for services to music.
Vanessa Brown, for her volunteer work on the Windrush Reform Programme
Kim Hatton, for services to special educational needs families during the
Covid pandemic.

The Mayor congratulated all on their award behalf of the Council.
7.
Visit of Jathedar Shri Akaal Takht Sahib
The Mayor reported, that last Sunday, 12 September, saw the unveiling of the statue
in Wednesfield to commemorate the 21 Sikh soldiers who lost their lives at the Battle

Page 7

Minutes
Page 3 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

of Saragarhi, on 12th September 1897, fighting for the British Raj in the Tirah
Campaign. In attendance was Giani Harpreet Singh, the Jathedar of Akal Takht, who
flew over from India for the unveiling.
The Mayor had the pleasure of hosting a Civic reception for local representatives
from our Sikh community on 14 September, which would help develop and
strengthen ties between our City, our Council and our Sikh community.
8.
999 Day - 9 September
The Mayor reported that he had recorded and published a video message paying
tribute to our magnificent emergency services for “999 Day”. The police, fire service,
NHS and ambulance services had all gone above and beyond the call of duty during
the pandemic and he was truly grateful for the work undertaken by emergency
services, 24hours a day, 365 days a year.
9.
Suicide Prevention Day - 10 September
The Mayor reported that he had recorded and published a video message for Suicide
Prevention Day. He had visited the local office of the Samaritans earlier this year.
Wolverhampton’s Suicide Prevention Stakeholder Forum also used the day to raise
awareness of the help and support available for people experiencing distress or
despair, and to open up a dialogue around this complex issue.
10.
Covid-19 Update
The Mayor reported there had now been nearly 325,000 vaccinations administered in
the City, with 154,176 people having received two doses. There were 878 positive
cases reported in the City in the seven days so it was important to remember that
Covid was not over.
11.
Letters of Condolence
The Mayor reported he had written letters of condolence to the Lord Mayor of
Plymouth following the tragic shootings in the City on the 12 August, and to the Chair
of South Staffordshire Council following the death in service of their Leader Cllr Brian
Edwards MBE on 13 August.
12.
Council Staff Highlights
The Mayor, wished a long and happy retirement to Ann Cox-McIvor (formerly
Hodson), the longest serving member of staff in the Mayor’s Office, who was retiring
after 33 years’ service with the Council.
The Mayor congratulated Ala Sairani in Legal Services who had won the Junior
Lawyer Award 2021 at the Lawyers in Local Government (LLG) Awards. Ala was
recognised for her impressive achievement and development throughout the
pandemic, which encapsulated the spirit and professionalism of lawyers in local
government.
5

Report of Leader of the Council
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield, provided Council with an update
on asylum issues.

Page 8

Minutes
Page 4 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6

Brewers Yard (Phase 1) Culwell Street Site
Councillor Steve Evans, presented the report Brewers Yard (Phase 1) Culwell Street
Site for approval. The report sought approval for appropriate capital budgets to
relocate fleet services and meals on wheels to a new more energy efficient facility on
the wholesale market site. In total four services would be based at this site.
Councillor Steve Evans, added the clearance of the Culwell Street site would enable
the brownfield site to be redeveloped as part of the Brewers Yard masterplan. This
would enable city centre housing to be developed, support the local economy by
creating more jobs and contribute to the Council’s priorities by creating a vibrant and
thriving space.
Councillor Steve Evans, placed on record his thanks to the Programme Manager for
progressing this work.
Councillor Steve Evans, proposed the recommendation and Councillor Stephen
Simkins seconded the recommendation.
The report was debated by Council.
Resolved:
That the creation of appropriate capital budgets funded, through grant and prudential
borrowing as detailed within the exempt report be approved, subject to confirmation of
successful grant bids.

7

Council Response to the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England Draft Warding Proposal
Councillor Paula Brookfield, presented the report: Council Response to the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England Draft Warding Proposal for
approval. The report sets out the Council’s response to the Local Government
Boundary Commission for England draft warding proposal for Wolverhampton.
Councillor Paula Brookfield, thanked the boundary commission for allowing the
council to submit its response after the deadline. The boundary commission would
consider all submissions put forward as part of the consultation undertaken, a final
report would be received from the boundary commission in November.
Councillor Paula Brookfield, proposed the recommendation and Councillor Tersaim
Singh seconded the recommendation.
The report was debated by Council.
Resolved:
That the Council’s response to the draft recommendations published by the Local
Government Boundary Commission for England (LGBCE) be approved.

Page 9

Minutes
Page 5 of 6

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8

Decisions Made Under Urgent Action Powers
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield presented the report: Decisions
Made Under Urgent Action Powers for noting. The report detailed the decision taken
under Urgent Action Powers.
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield proposed the recommendation
and Councillor Stephen Simkins seconded the recommendation.
Resolved:
That the decision made under the Council’s Urgent Action Powers be noted.

9

Written Questions by Councillors
On behalf of the Cabinet Member for City Assets and Housing, the Leader of the
Council, Councillor Ian Brookfield responded to questions put to the Cabinet Member
by Councillor Lynne Moran on right to buy, Councillor Udey Singh on empty housing
and Councillor Andrew McNeil on development plans. He also responded to
supplementary questions on the same subject matter.
The Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities, Councillor Paula Brookfield
responded to a question put to her by Councillor Andy Randle on public questions.
The Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing, Councillor Jasbir Jaspal responded
to a question put to her by Councillor Stephanie Haynes on West Midlands Police
and Crime Panel. She also responded to a supplementary question on the same
subject matter.
The written question submitted by Councillor Adam Collinge on ShopMobility was
withdrawn.
The Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate Change, Councillor Steve
Evans responded to questions put to him by Councillor Sohail Khan on electric
vehicles, Councillor Chris Haynes on carbon footprint and Councillor Wendy
Thompson on avoiding gridlock. He also responded to supplementary questions on
the same subject matter.

Page 10

Minutes
Page 6 of 6

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 6

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

Wolves at Work 18-24 – Youth Employment

Referring body

Cabinet – 20 October 2021

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Ian Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Accountable director

Tim Johnson, Chief Executive

Originating service

Chief Executive

Accountable employee

Mark Taylor
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Regeneration Leadership Team
Strategic Executive Board
Leader’s Briefing
Cabinet Member Briefing –
Education & Skills
Cabinet Member Briefing –
Children and Young People
Cabinet

Deputy Chief Executive
01902 556609
mark.taylor@wolverhampton.gov.uk
5 October 2021
7 October 2021
11 October 2021
11 October 2021
11 October 2021
20 October 2021

Recommendations for decision:
The Council is recommended to approve:
1. The launch of a new Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme of targeted interventions which
puts our young people at the centre of activity and urgently delivers the step change
needed in our City to give unemployed young people opportunities for secure,
sustainable employment, apprenticeships, education or training.
2. An initial £3 million budget, from a combination of the Recovery Reserve and Covid
Emergency Grant, to deliver Wolves at Work 18-24 and galvanise a ‘One City’ approach
to create opportunities for our young people.

Page 11

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3. The establishment of a £100,000 ‘City Ideas Fund’, initially (funded from the £3 million
available), for City employers and partners to bid for and put forward ideas that will get
more young people into sustained employment, apprenticeships, education or training.
4. The delegation of authority to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Chief
Executive and the Director of Finance, to approve:
a. Wolves at Work 18-24 targeted interventions and the allocation of the associated
budget (from the £3 million available).
b. The scope and governance arrangements for the ‘City Ideas Fund’.

Page 12

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To seek approval for the Council to lead on developing and resourcing a comprehensive
programme of targeted intervention – Wolves at Work 18-24 - to support young people
currently claiming benefits and aged 18 to 24 into sustainable employment,
apprenticeships, education or training.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 20 October 2021 Cabinet considered a report on Wolves at Work 18-24 - Youth
Employment.

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website here.

2.3

Cabinet approved, subject to the support and endorsement of Full Council:
1. The launch of a new Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme of targeted interventions
which puts our young people at the centre of activity and urgently delivers the step
change needed in our City to give unemployed young people opportunities for
secure, sustainable employment, apprenticeships, education or training.
2. An initial £3 million budget, from a combination of the Recovery Reserve and Covid
Emergency Grant, to deliver Wolves at Work 18-24 and galvanise a ‘One City’
approach to create opportunities for our young people.
3. The establishment of a £100,000 ‘City Ideas Fund’, initially (funded from the £3
million available), for City employers and partners to bid for and put forward ideas
that will get more young people into sustained employment, apprenticeships,
education or training.
4. The delegation of authority to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Chief
Executive and the Director of Finance, to approve:
a. Wolves at Work 18-24 targeted interventions and the allocation of the associated
budget (from the £3 million available).
b. The scope and governance arrangements for the ‘City Ideas Fund’.

3.0

Financial implications

3.1

The financial implications are detailed in the Cabinet report of 20 October 2021.

4.0

Legal implications

4.1

The legal implications are detailed in the Cabinet report of 20 October 2021.

Page 13

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.0

Equalities implications

5.1

The equalities implications are detailed in the Cabinet report of 20 October 2021.

6.0

All other implications

6.1

All other implications are detailed in the Cabinet report of 20 October 2021.

7.0

Schedule of background papers

7.1

Cabinet report of 20 October 2021 - Wolves at Work 18-24 - Youth Employment

Page 14

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Cabinet
20 October 2021
Report title

Wolves at Work 18-24 – Youth Employment

Decision designation

RED

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Key decision

Yes

In forward plan

No

Wards affected

All Wards

Accountable Director

Tim Johnson, Chief Executive

Originating service

Chief Executive

Accountable employee

Mark Taylor
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Regeneration Leadership
Team
Strategic Executive Board
Leader’s Briefing
Cabinet Member Briefing –
Education & Skills
Cabinet Member Briefing –
Children and Young People

Deputy Chief Executive
01902 556609
mark.taylor@wolverhampton.gov.uk
5 October 2021
7 October 2021
11 October 2021
11 October 2021
11 October 2021

Recommendations for decision:
Cabinet is recommended to approve (subject to the support and endorsement of Full
Council on 3 November 2021):
1. The launch of a new Wolves at Work 18-24 Programme of targeted interventions which
puts our young people at the centre of activity and urgently delivers the step change
needed in our City to give unemployed young people opportunities for secure,
sustainable employment, apprenticeships, education or training.

Page 15

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

2. An initial £3 million budget, from a combination of the Recovery Reserve and Covid
Emergency Grant, to deliver Wolves at Work 18-24 and galvanise a ‘One City’ approach
to create opportunities for our young people.
3. The establishment of a £100,000 ‘City Ideas Fund’, initially (funded from the £3 million
available), for City employers and partners to bid for and put forward ideas that will get
more young people into sustained employment, apprenticeships, education or training.
4. The delegation of authority to the Leader of the Council, in consultation with the Chief
Executive and the Director of Finance, to approve:
a. Wolves at Work 18-24 targeted interventions and the allocation of the associated
budget (from the £3 million available).
b. The scope and governance arrangements for the ‘City Ideas Fund’.

Recommendations for noting:
Cabinet is asked to note that:
1. Delivering Wolves at Work 18-24 is the Council and City’s number one priority and
needs a coordinated and sustained response from the Council, City employers and
partners, the West Midlands Combined Authority and Government Departments, as a
result:
a. The Leader of the Council will be the Lead Cabinet Member.
b. The Chief Executive will fulfil the role of Accountable Director, with day-to-day
responsibility being delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive, who will fulfil the role
of Senior Responsible Officer (SRO).
2. The Council is committed to holding a Wolves at Work 18-24 City Summit to bring
together a range of key partners (local, regional and national) and employers to forge a
‘One City’ approach to tackling the underlying issues which transcend organisational
boundaries.
3. The progress and impact of Wolves at Work 18-24 will be reported to Councillors as
part of the established corporate performance and budget monitoring arrangements.
4. The existing Governance arrangements relating to youth unemployment within the
Council and across the City, will be mapped and reviewed to ensure that they are
making a positive contribution towards Wolves at Work 18-24.

Page 16

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This Cabinet report seeks approval for the council to lead on developing and
resourcing a comprehensive programme of targeted intervention – Wolves at Work
18-24 - to support young people currently claiming benefits and aged 18 to 24 into
sustainable employment, apprenticeships, education or training.

2.0

Background

2.1

Children and young people, and youth employment, has always been a focus and
priority for the Council and City. It features heavily in the Council’s Relighting Our
City plans.

2.2

Although youth unemployment has historically been a significant issue in our City,
regrettably, since launching the Relighting Our City plan, unemployment figures have
been further exacerbated by the ongoing impact of the pandemic. The City of
Wolverhampton currently has the highest unemployment rate for 18-24 year olds in
the UK, equating to 2,660 young people (NOMIS September 2021). This is despite
the City being in the top quartile for 16-17 year olds for NEETs (Not in Education,
Employment or Training).

2.3

The Council, however, remains resolute and committed to working with partners,
employers and young people, to actively increase the levels of youth employment,
especially as city employers are reporting high levels of vacancies.

2.4

With the end of the furlough scheme likely to further exacerbate this challenge,
urgent intervention and action is required. It is clear that the Council cannot address
this challenge in isolation, it is therefore absolutely essential that the Council leads
and drives a coordinated and sustained response with City employers and partners,
the West Midlands Combined Authority and Government Departments – a ‘One City’
Response, with young people and their voices at the centre of every element of the
response.

3.0

A ‘One City’ Response

3.1

Despite the fact that there are already extensive and ambitious programmes and
interventions in place to tackle this challenge, they are not having the desired impact.
Therefore, a reinvigorated and comprehensive programme of targeted interventions
will now be developed to support young unemployed people aged 18 to 24, into
sustainable jobs, apprenticeships or training – Wolves at Work 18-24. As already
stated, Wolves at Work 18-24 will ensure that young people and their voices are at
the centre of every element of the response

3.2

These interventions will provide enhanced and targeted support to meet individual
needs which will be backed up by a city-wide marketing and communications
campaign to raise awareness and connect young people to opportunities.

Page 17

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.3

Through a ‘One City’ response, Wolves at Work 18-24 will also aim to tackle
inequalities within the City and disparities between different wards - the highest youth
unemployment rate is currently in Bushbury South & Low Hill (18.7%), the lowest is
Tettenhall Wightwick (7.9%). However, the urgent need to respond to this issue is
highlighted by the fact that all of Wolverhampton’s wards are above the English youth
unemployment rate of 6.5% (NOMIS September 2021).

3.4

The first ambitious Wolves at Work 18-24 initiative will be a ‘City Ideas Fund’, this will
be established from the approved budget of £3 million, with an initial allocation of
£100,000. Set to be launched in the very near future, City employers and partners
will be able put forward ideas and bid for funding to get more young people into
sustained employment, apprenticeships, education or training. The focus will be to
support new and innovative community-based activities and projects which will
connect young people to job and learning opportunities. Delegated authority is being
sought in this report to develop this approach.

3.5

The Council will also take the lead to set up a Wolves at Work 18-24 City Summit
which will bring together a range of key partners and employers to forge the ‘One
City’ approach required. This will be set up as a high priority, will involve young
people to provide the opportunity for the City to ‘step up’ and collectively take action.

3.6

As this is the Council’s and City’s number one priority, the Leader of the Council will
be the Lead Cabinet Member for Wolves at Work 18-24 and the Chief Executive will
fulfil the role of Accountable Director. Day-to-day responsibility will be delegated to
the Deputy Chief Executive, who will fulfil the role of Senior Responsible Officer
(SRO).

3.7

A key component to any successful programme is effective governance, therefore,
the existing governance arrangements relating to youth employment within the
Council and across the City, will be mapped and reviewed to ensure that they are
making a positive contribution towards Wolves at Work 18-24. Progress and
performance of Wolves at Work 18-24 will be reviewed and analysed regularly to
understand the impact of the programme and this will be reported to Councillors as
part of the established corporate performance and budget monitoring arrangements.

4.0

Options Considered

4.1

There is only one real option to tackle this problem - adopting a ‘One-City’ approach
with the Council taking on a City and system leadership role.

5.0

Reasons for decision(s)

5.1

This is the recommended option for decision as the council is in a unique position to
lead on developing and resourcing a comprehensive programme of targeted
intervention – Wolves at Work 18-24 - to support young people currently claiming
benefits and aged 18 to 24 into sustainable employment, apprenticeships, education
or training.

Page 18

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

6.0

Financial implications

6.1

Approval is sought to establish an initial budget of £3 million, from a combination of
the Recovery Reserve and Covid Emergency Grant, to fund the Wolves at Work 1824 Programme.

6.2

As the work of Wolves at Work 18-24 develops, and the required initiatives and
interventions start to emerge, it will be possible to estimate whether the £3 million will
be sufficient to deliver this key priority for the Council and the City.

6.3

The initial £100,000 allocated to the ‘City Ideas Fund’ will be established from the
approved budget of £3 million.
[CN/07102021/P]

7.0

Legal implications

7.1

The decision being recommend to Cabinet falls within the definition of an Amber
Decision, as it is within the budget and policy framework approved by Council.

7.2

However, due to the significant financial resources being committed to Wolves at
Work 18-24, the Leader of the Council felt it was important that the Cabinet secured
the endorsement and support of Full Council with this important decision, as such the
decision is being made by Cabinet and the endorsement of Full Council will be
sought at the next meeting on 3 November 2021.
[DP/07102021/A]

8.0

Equalities implications

8.1

As stated above, Wolves at Work 18-24 will aim to tackle inequalities in the city given
big disparities between different wards - the highest youth unemployment rate is in
East Park (19.5%), the lowest is Tettenhall Regis (8.8%).

8.2

In addition, an equality analysis will be undertaken for all Wolves at Work 18-24
activity and targeted interventions.

9.0

All other Implications

9.1

Wolves at Work 18-24 will have a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of the
city’s residents as it will support for young people into sustainable employment,
apprenticeships, education or training.

9.2

There is a risk that the City will go into another lockdown, this may impact the
delivery of Wolves at Work 18-24.

10.0

Schedule of background papers

10.1

There are no schedule background papers.

Page 19

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 7

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

Overview of electoral cycles

Referring body

Governance and Ethics Committee, 3 September 2021

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Paula Brookfield

Wards affected

All

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Electoral Services

Accountable employee

Laura Noonan
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Electoral Services Manager
01902 554939
Laura.noonan@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Governance and Ethics
Committee

3 September 2021

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Decide whether to go out to public consultation on the Council’s election cycle.

Page 21

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To present some of the advantages and disadvantages of different electoral cycles.

1.2

To outline the process of moving to a different electoral cycle.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 3 September 2021, Governance and Ethics Committee considered a report on
Overview of Electoral Cycles.

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website: here.

2.3

Governance and Ethics Committee referred the matter to Council recommending a move
to all out elections. The Committee is an advisory Committee and the decision rests with
Council. The report has been updated to address a number of the questions that were
raised in the Committee debate on the issues.

3.0

Electoral Cycles

3.1

Election by thirds is the current system in place in Wolverhampton where one third of the
councillors are elected to office in three years out of four years. In the fourth year there
are no elections, which is known as a fallow year. Election by halves is where half of the
councillors are elected every 2 years.

3.2

All out elections are where all councillors are elected to office once every four years.

3.3

Currently 232 councils in the country hold all out elections. 116 councils elect by thirds. 7
councils elect by halves. However, it is overwhelmingly the district, county and London
borough councils who hold all out elections, so it is not the electoral cycle in place for the
majority of the electorate. 91% (33) of metropolitan councils elect by thirds, including
Wolverhampton – there are currently three who elect once every four years which are
reviewed in section 7.4 (this will soon to change to 4 as St Helens is now moving to all
out elections1). There are 30% (17) of unitary councils (i.e. not in metropolitan council
areas) which also elect by thirds.

3.4

Of the authorities in the West Midlands Combined Authority area all Councils elect by
thirds, except for Birmingham who moved to all out elections in 2018.

The authorities are listed below – it is noted that recommendations have been made that Liverpool move to all out
elections but that has not happened yet.
1.Barnsley, 2. Bolton, 3. Bradford, 4. Bury, 5. Calderdale, 6. Coventry, 7. Dudley, 8. Gateshead, 9. Kirklees, 10.
Knowsley, 11. Leeds, 12. Liverpool, 13. Manchester, 14. Newcastle Upon Tyne, 15. North Tyneside, 16. Oldham,
17. Rochdale, 18. Salford, 19. Sandwell, 20. Sefton, 21. Sheffield, 22. Solihull, 23. South Tyneside, 24. St Helens,
25. Stockport, 26. Sunderland, 27. Tameside, 28. Trafford, 29. Wakefield, 30. Walsall, 31. Wigan, 32. Wirral, 33.
Wolverhampton
1

Page 22

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0

Legal process for changing electoral cycles

4.1

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“the 2007 Act”)
enables councils to set their own election cycle(see sections 31 – 63). It allows Councils
to consider passing a resolution to change to whole Council elections, or where they
previously elected by thirds but have moved to all out elections to revert back to thirds. It
does not allow Councils to move from elections by thirds to election by halves or from
elections by halves to elections by thirds.

4.2

Section 33 of the Act outlines the steps that must be taken in order to change the
electoral cycle.

4.3

The 2007 Act states that a Council must not pass the resolution unless “it has taken
reasonable steps to consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed
change”. Whilst the Act does not specify the process for consultation it would need to be
a reasonable level of consultation and would need to be for a reasonable period of time.

4.4

If after the consultation a Council wishes to pass a resolution to change its electoral cycle
the resolution must be passed:
a) at a meeting which is specially convened for the purpose of deciding the
resolution; and
b) by a majority of at least two thirds of the elected members voting on it.
If the resolution is passed then the Council must produce an explanatory document
available for public inspection and give the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England (“the Commission”) notice that it has passed the resolution. The resolution must
specify the year for the first ordinary elections of the Council at which all Councillors are
to be elected.

4.5

There is then a detailed process for the implementation of the change to electoral cycle
that is detailed through the Act and related guidance.

5.0

This Council’s position

5.1

In its initial discussions with the Council the Commission sought clarity on the Council’s
approach to the electoral cycle as had there been a wish to change the approach that
may have affected the Commission’s approach. The Council’s first response to the
Commission’s electoral review in 2020 confirmed that the Council elects by thirds.

5.2

Following the boundary review in this authority, all out elections will take place on all 20
of the new wards, and then the Council will eventually return to a cycle of election by
thirds.

Page 23

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5.3

The current electoral timetable is as follows:
2022 – City Council Elections (thirds)
2023 – City Council Elections (all out elections)
2024 – City Council Elections, Police and Crime Commissioner Elections, West
Midlands Combined Authority Mayoral Elections and UK Parliamentary Election
2025 – None (fallow year)
2026 – City Council Elections
2027 – City Council Elections
2028 – City council Elections, Police and Crime Commissioner Elections and
Combined Authority Mayoral Elections

5.4

The Commission has agreed to delay implementation of the all-out elections, following
the boundary review, from 2022 to 2023 as it has with a number of other authorities in the
same position. The schedule of elections following the boundary review will be prescribed
in the Electoral Changes Order which will be laid in Parliament in Winter 2021/2022.

5.5

We have asked for the fallow year to move from 2025 to 2024, this is to avoid the issue
whereby a number of councillors will have effectively had 3 elections in 3 years – eg
being elected in 2022, then elected in 2023 as the 3rd of 3 Councillors at the all out
election and then having to retire in 2024 and stand again as a result of coming 3 rd in that
ward. The Commission has explained that it does not have the power to include such a
recommendation in an Order implementing its recommendations. However under section
87 of the Local Government Act 2000 the Secretary of State has powers to change, by
Order, the years in which ordinary elections of principal councils take place and includes
at Section 87 (3) the power to make provisions to secure the retirement of existing
councillors at times different from those at which they would otherwise retire. We will
therefore be liaising with Government to seek to persuade them to do so.

6.0

Comparison of electoral cycles

6.1

The table below shows some the advantages and disadvantages of each cycle. This
includes learning from the Electoral Commission and research from other authorities who
have reviewed their election cycles.

Page 24

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Advantages

Election by thirds

All out elections



This is the system currently in
place – everyone knows how it
works.





It is more regular, so voters get
the opportunity to vote every
three out of four years.

Voters will get to see a four-year
manifesto and long-term
commitments from candidates
which may be easier to make
judgements on.



Moves away from yearly election
campaigning.



Clearer opportunity for the
electorate to change the political
composition of the council once
every four years.











Councillors and political parties
get to be held to account by the
voters more regularly for their
decisions.

Helps to give more
opportunities to debate and

discuss local issues, which may
otherwise get confused with
national issues.
Allows for gradual change at
the Council, rather than the
possibility of big changes every
four years if a different political
party wins a majority.
Can ensure that the political
composition of authorities more
accurately reflects the current
political complexion of local
areas.
Provides a more up to date
reflection of the views of local
people.



More continuity of councillors
without any chance of them all
being replaced in a single
election.



Provides a regular influx of
newly elected councillors who
can bring new ideas and fresh
approaches to the Council.



Experienced staff working
election duties as they have
had the opportunity to keep
their knowledges and skills up

Page 25

Saves money – cost of hiring
polling stations, hiring staff and
producing poll cards, ballot papers
and postal packs will only be done
once every four years instead of
three.



Simpler for electors and more
easily understood because it is
similar timescales to a General
Election every five years.



Same electoral cycle as Police
and Crime Commissioner and
Combined Authority Mayoral
elections which take place every
four years.



Less elections may mean less
election fatigue so people may be
more interested in voting when the
time comes, and this may
increase the number of people
using their vote.

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

to date with more frequent
elections
Disadvantages



Less stability – regular changes
of political control can affect
local businesses and council
services.









It is difficult to see through
major policy decisions, or large
infrastructure or regeneration
projects in a single year.

A withdrawal of the opportunity to
vote more frequently may
disengage some of the city’s
electors if they only vote once
every four years as opposed to
election by thirds.



Difficult or unpopulated
decisions can be put off for
future years, rather than taken
when needed.

May be seen as less democratic
as Councillors only get voted in
every four years as opposed to
the current system.



If a large number of councillors
are replaced in one election this
may be disruptive and may lead to
big changes to policies, plans and
services.



Newly elected Councillors or
political parties may become
complacent because they know
they wont have to be re-elected
for another four years.



All out elections may give
advantage to larger political
parties which have the resources
to campaign across the city.



Would lead to more by-elections
taking place, which would incur
cost.



Likely to lead to a greater loss of
experience compared to the
phased introduction/loss of
councillors when retirements are
by thirds.



Less frequent elections could be
detrimental to encouraging
candidates to stand for election as
the opportunity to serve on the
Council will be less frequent.



Less experienced staff working
election duties. May be difficult to
retain staff when only contacting
them once every four years.

Constant year on year
campaigning by councillors and
political parties may lead to
voter fatigue and a lack of
interest.

Page 26

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0

Impact of changing electoral cycles

7.1

One of the possible advantages of all out elections is that it could improve turnout. The
table below shows the percentage turnout at a city level for local, regional and national
elections over the last six years.
Year

Election

% turnout

2021

Combined local, Combined
Authority Mayoral and Police and
Crime Commissioner

All - 33%

2019

Parliamentary

59%

2019

EU Parliamentary

29%

2019

Local

27%

2018

Local

28%

2017

Combined Authority Mayoral

32%

2017

Parliamentary

64%

2016

Local and Police and Crime
Commissioner

Local – 29%

2016

EU Referendum

68%

2015

Local and Parliamentary

Local – 58%

PCC – 28%

Parliamentary – 59%
7.2

Nationally, the turnout is much higher for a parliamentary election than a local election.
This table demonstrates that when a local election is combined with a parliamentary
election, the turnout is almost double the usual turnout as can be seen from the 2015
election. The regional combined authority mayoral elections have also seen a slightly
higher turnout than local elections. The turnout for the triple combined poll in 2021 was a
higher turnout than typical local elections, which could be due to the combined poll and
also the increase in postal voters.

7.3

The election cycle for parliamentary elections is every five years. The election cycle for
all out local government elections is every four years so these elections would not always
be combined.

Page 27

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.4

A breakdown by ward is available in Appendix 1. Please note, turnout figures by ward are
not available for regional elections as there is no requirement to count by wards so this
data has not been captured.

7.5

There are three metropolitan district councils who elect every 4 years – Birmingham,
Doncaster and Rotherham. The table below shows the turnout at their last by thirds
election compared with their subsequent all-out elections:
Last by thirds
election

First all out
election

Subsequent all out
elections

Birmingham

2016 – 32%

2018 – 32%

N/A

Doncaster

2014 – 33%

2017 – 29%

2021 – 28%

2016 – 33%

2021 – 29%

2015 (with
parliamentary) –
56%
Rotherham

2014 (last
standalone) – 35%
2015 (with
parliamentary) –
59%

This research demonstrates that there was no significant impact on the turnout for a local
election following the change in electoral cycle. It does demonstrate that there is a
greater turnout when local elections coincide with general elections. This is also seen on
a national scale for council elections:

Page 28

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.6

Another advantage of all out elections is reducing the impact on schools as they would
only be required to be used as a polling station once every four years instead of three out
of four years. Currently, there are 28 schools used as polling stations. At the last
elections, the majority of these had to close to accommodate the polling station safely.
The Council has a commitment to not use schools as polling stations, where there are
other suitable buildings in the polling district. An extensive review of schools as polling
stations was carried out ahead of the 2021 elections which reduced the number of
schools used compared to previous elections, but the schools that are used as polling
stations now are because there are no other suitable alternatives. In order to mitigate
school closures, we intend once again to consult with councillors to invite them to
propose alternative locations to schools in their wards.

8.0

Consultation options

8.1

There are two different consultation models to consider, and the financial implications for
each option are explored in the next section.

8.2

One option is to run an online consultation which could be hosted on the council’s
consultation page. A comprehensive communications campaign would be launched to
encourage a good response. North Herts Council are currently consulting on this topic
online using Survey Monkey. Tunbridge Wells also ran an online consultation on this
earlier this year – they received 517 responses.

Page 29

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

8.3

The other option is to invite all households to respond by sending a postal ballot paper to
every household in the city to include an explanatory letter to outline the reason for the
consultation, a ballot paper and return envelope. An external supplier could be appointed
to run this. The added benefits of this option would be that the council would receive best
practice advice on conducting this type of ballot, the supplier would print and post all of
the ballot papers, deal with customer queries and also count the votes. This is the model
that Swindon council used in 2019 for their consultation on electoral cycles. They
received just over 34,000 responses, which was a 19% turnout.

9.0

Financial implications

9.1

The cost of running local elections to the Council in any year is dependent on whether
they are standalone or combined with Parliamentary, Police and Crime Commissioner or
Combined Authority Mayoral elections. Combined elections costs are effectively shared,
part funded by Government or the Combined Authority.

9.2

The historic cost of running a standalone local election by thirds has been in the region of
£260,000. The cost to the Council as part of a combined election approximately halves. It
is estimated that the additional cost of running an all out election would be no more than
£20,000, consisting largely of extra count staff to manage the higher volume. It is clear,
therefore, that significant cost reductions can be achieved by running a single all out
election rather than three elections by thirds.

9.3

The exact value of the cost reduction to the Council over a four year election cycle will be
dependent on the schedule of elections under old and new systems. A Parliamentary
election may, or may not, coincide with a local election and the timing is clearly unknown
at this point. Another variable factor which cannot be forecast is by-elections. If a
councillor resigns prior to the end of their term of office and a request to call an election is
made the by-election process is triggered. These are normally run alongside annual
elections at present, but a change to all out elections would make standalone byelections more likely. The estimated cost of each by-election, or combined by-elections
within one ward, is £15,000.

9.4

If public consultation is approved it is important to note that the costs would vary
significantly dependent on the nature of the consultation. An online consultation with
communications campaign is estimated to cost under £10,000 whereas recent external
supplier guidance indicates that a full postal ballot could cost in the region of £100,000.
Around £70,000 of this is attributable to postage, including despatch and return
envelopes, with the remainder covering printing, consultancy and project management
fees, artwork, envelope filling, response handling and counting of ballot papers. The cost
of either form of public consultation can be funded from the Elections Reserve if required.

[GE/26102021/M]

Page 30

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

10.0

Legal implications

10.1

The legal implications are set out in detail in the report – if the Council were to wish to
move to all out elections it would need to follow the process provided in the 2007 Act as
detailed in section 4 of the report.

10.2

It is important to note that a decision to formally change electoral cycles can only be
made after consultation and at an extraordinary meeting and requires a 2/3 majority by
the Council, a decision to proceed to consultation would require a simple majority.
[DP/25102021/A].

11.0

Equalities implications

11.1

There would be a detailed equalities impact assessment that would be carefully carried
out were the Council to decide to proceed to consultation. The additional work on the
potential equalities implications has not been carried out at this stage.

12.0

All other Implications

12.1

There are no other implications arising from the report.

13.0

Schedule of background papers

13.1

Governance and Ethics Committee, 3 September 2021, Overview of Electoral Cycles

13.2

Election Timetable in England, Gov.uk:
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment
_data/file/920186/Election_Timetable_in_England_2019.pdf

14.0

Appendices

14.1

Appendix 1: Details of previous election turnout figures

Page 31

This page is intentionally left blank

Ward

City

Page 33

Bilston East

Bilston North

Blakenhall

Bushbury
North
Bushbury
South and
Low Hill

2021 –
Combined
Local, PCC
and CAM
All - 33%

L - 25%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 29%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 38%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 33%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 23%
PCC and
CAM – N/A

2019 – Parl

2019 – EU
Parl

2019 - 2018 Local Local

Wolverhampton
North East
(WNE)– 56%
Wolverhampton
South East
(WSE) – 53%
Wolverhampton
South West
(WSW) – 68%

29%

27%

N/A

21%

28%

21%

2017 –
Combined
Authority
Mayoral
32%

WNE –
60%
WSE –
60%
WSW –
71%

N/A

47%

55%
N/A

24%

23%

N/A

53%

55%
N/A

33%

38%

N/A

61%

66%
N/A

26%

27%

N/A

59%

66%
N/A

46%

2017 – Parl 2016 –
2016 –
Local
EU Ref
and PCC

17%

18%

N/A
52%

L -29%,
PCC –
28%

L – 22%
PCC –
N/A
L – 26%
PCC –
N/A
L – 39%
PCC –
N/A
L – 28%
PCC –
N/A
L – 19%
PCC –
N/A

68%

2015 –
Local
and
Parl
L–
58%,
WNE –
56%
WSE –
56%
WSW 67%
L – 51%
P – 57%

65%
L – 56%
P – 54%
67%
L – 61%
P- 70%
67%
L – 60%
P – 54%
69%
L – 44%
P – 46%
59%

East Park

Ettingshall

Fallings Park

Graiseley

Page 34

Heath Town

Merry Hill

Oxley

Park

Penn

L - 25%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 32%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 29%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 36%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 26%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 39%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 32%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 37%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L - 46%
PCC and
CAM – N/A

N/A

20%

20%

N/A

48%

52%
N/A

27%

29%

N/A

54%

60%
N/A

22%

23%

N/A

56%

66%
N/A

31%

36%

N/A

63%

67%
N/A

22%

24%

N/A

51%

55%
N/A

33%

33%

N/A

68%

66%
N/A

24%

26%

N/A

59%

60%
N/A

33%

36%

N/A

67%

78%
N/A

72%

37%

38%

N/A
77%

L – 20%
PCC –
N/A
L – 26%
PCC –
N/A
L – 24%
PCC –
N/A
L – 33%
PCC –
N/A
L – 23%
PCC –
N/A
L – 34%
PCC –
N/A
L – 26%
PCC –
N/A
L – 33%
PCC –
N/A
L – 38%
PCC –
N/A

L – 49%
P – 49%
61%
L – 53%
P – 59%
62%
L – 55%
P – 51%
67%
L – 61%
P – 61%
66%
L – 48%
P – 48%
70%
L – 66%
P – 68%
71%
L – 57%
P – 65%
66%
L – 63%
P – 72%
70%
L – 70%
P- 72%
72%

Spring Vale

St Peters

Tettenhall
Regis
Tettenhall
Wightwick

Page 35

Wednesfield
North
Wednesfield
South

L - 29%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L -29%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L -41%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L – 47%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L – 30%
PCC and
CAM – N/A
L – 32%
PCC and
CAM – N/A

N/A

24%

24%

N/A

56%

66%
N/A

25%

31%

N/A

58%

70%
N/A

32%

32%

N/A

71%

65%
N/A

37%

38%

N/A

74%

73%
N/A

25%

26%

N/A

59%

60%
N/A

49%

28%

29%

N/A
62%

L – 29%
PCC –
N/A
L – 28%
PCC –
N/A
L - 33%
PCC –
N/A
L – 37%
PCC –
N/A
L – 28%
PCC –
N/A
L – 29%
PCC –
N/A

L – 57%
P – 50%
68%
L – 51%
P – 61%
70%
L – 69%
P – 74%
70%
L – 72%
P – 74%
70%
L – 59%
P – 57%
69%
L – 60%
P – 71%
70%

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC

Governance and Ethics
Committee
3 September 2021
Report title

Overview of electoral cycles

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Director of Governance

Originating service

Electoral Services

Accountable employee(s)

Laura Noonan
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

Not applicable.

Electoral Services Manager
01902 554939
Laura.noonan@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendations for noting:
The Governance Committee is asked to note:
1. The process for changing electoral cycles.

Page 37

This report is PUBLIC

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To present on the process re different electoral cycles. This is for information, there are
no recommendations being made for decision.

2.0

Background

2.1

In the Governance and Ethics Committee meeting on 24 June, it was requested that a
briefing paper is brought forward to present the process re different election cycles.

2.2

Election by thirds is the current system in place in Wolverhampton, where one third of the
Councillors are elected to office in three years out of four years. In the fourth year there
are no elections, which is known as a fallow year. Election by halves is where half of the
Councillors are elected every 2 years.

2.3

All out elections are where all Councillors are elected to office once every four years.

2.4

Currently 232 councils in the country hold all out elections. 116 councils elect by thirds. 7
councils elect by halves.

2.5

Of the authorities in the West Midlands Combined Authority area all councils elect by
thirds, except for Birmingham who moved to all out elections in 2018 1.

2.6

Legal process for changing electoral cycles – The Local Government and Public
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (“the 2007 Act”) enables councils to set their own
electoral cycle (see sections 31 – 63). It allows councils to consider passing a resolution
to change to whole council elections, or where they previously elected by thirds but have
moved to all out elections to revert back to thirds. It does not allow councils to move from
elections by thirds to election by halves or from elections by halves to elections by thirds.

2.7

Section 33 of the Act outlines the steps that must be taken in order to change the
electoral cycle.

2.8

The 2007 Act states that a council must not pass the resolution unless “it has taken
reasonable steps to consult such persons as it thinks appropriate on the proposed
change”. Whilst the Act does not specify the process for consultation it would need to be
a reasonable level of consultation and would need to be for a reasonable period of time.

2.9

If, after the consultation, a council wishes to pass a resolution to change its electoral
cycle the resolution must be passed:
a) at a meeting which is specially convened for the purpose of deciding the
resolution; and
b) by a majority of at least two thirds of the elected members voting on it.

Details of the changes made at Birmingham can be seen through the following link - Local Government Elections |
Elections results and further information | Birmingham City Council the changes took place following a Governance
review by Lord Kerslake – details of which can be seen here
1

Page 38

This report is PUBLIC

If the resolution is passed, then the council must produce an explanatory document
available for public inspection and give the Local Government Boundary Commission for
England (“the Commission”) notice that it has passed the resolution. The resolution must
specify the year for the first ordinary elections of the council at which all Councillors are
to be elected.
2.10

There is then a detailed process for the implementation of the change to electoral cycle
that is detailed through the Act and related guidance. This includes inviting the
Commission to consider whether it wishes to carry out an electoral review.

2.11

This Council’s position – In its initial discussions with the council, the Commission
sought clarity on the Council’s approach to the electoral cycle, as had there been a wish
to change the approach, that may have affected the Commission’s approach. The
Council’s first response to the Commission’s electoral review in 2020 confirmed that the
Council elects by thirds.

2.12

Following the boundary review in this authority, all out elections will take place on all 20
of the new wards, and then the Council will eventually return to a cycle of election by
thirds.

2.13

The current electoral timetable is as follows:
2022 – City Council Elections (thirds)
2023 – City Council Elections (all out elections)
2024 – City Council Elections, Police and Crime Commissioner Elections, West
Midlands Combined Authority Mayoral Elections and UK Parliamentary Election
2025 – None (fallow year)
2026 – City Council Elections
2027 – City Council Elections
2028 – City Council Elections, Police and Crime Commissioner Elections and
Combined Authority Mayoral Elections

2.14

The Commission has agreed to delay implementation of the all-out elections, following
the boundary review, from 2022 to 2023 as it has with a number of other authorities in the
same position. The schedule of elections following the boundary review will be prescribed
in the Electoral Changes Order, which will be laid in Parliament in Winter 2021/2022.

2.15

We have asked for the fallow year to move from 2025 to 2024, this is to avoid the issue
whereby a number of Councillors will have effectively had 3 elections in 3 years – e.g.
being elected in 2022, then elected in 2023 as the 3rd of 3 Councillors at the all out
election and then having to retire in 2024 and stand again as a result of coming 3 rd in that
ward. The Commission has explained that it does not have the power to include such a
recommendation in an Order implementing its recommendations. However under section

Page 39

This report is PUBLIC

87 of the Local Government Act 2000 the Secretary of State has powers to change, by
Order, the years in which ordinary elections of principal councils take place and includes
at Section 87 (3) the power to make provisions to secure the retirement of existing
Councillors at times different from those at which they would otherwise retire. We will
therefore be liaising with Government to seek to persuade them to do so.
3.0

Comparison

3.1

The table below shows some the advantages and disadvantages of each cycle. This
includes learning from the Electoral Commission and research from other authorities who
have reviewed their election cycles.

Advantages

Election by thirds

All out elections

•

This is the system currently in
place – everyone knows how it
works.

•

•

It is more regular, so voters get
the opportunity to vote every
three out of four years.

Voters will get to see a four-year
manifesto and long-term
commitments from candidates
which may be easier to make
judgements on.

•

Moves away from yearly election
campaigning.

•

Clearer opportunity for the
electorate to change the political
composition of the Council once
every four years.

•

•

•

•

•

•

Councillors and political parties
get to be held to account by the
voters more regularly for their
decisions.

Helps to give more
opportunities to debate and
•
discuss local issues, which may
otherwise get confused with
national issues.
Allows for gradual change at
the Council, rather than the
possibility of big changes every
four years if a different political
party wins a majority.
Can ensure that the political
composition of authorities more
accurately reflects the current
political complexion of local
areas.
Provides a more up to date
reflection of the views of local
people.
More continuity of Councillors
without any chance of them all

Page 40

Saves money – cost of hiring
polling stations, hiring staff and
producing poll cards, ballot papers
and postal packs will only be done
once every four years instead of
three.

•

Simpler for electors and more
easily understood because it is a
similar timescale to a General
Election every five years.

•

Same electoral cycle as Police
and Crime Commissioner and
Combined Authority Mayoral
elections which take place every
four years.

•

Less elections may mean less
election fatigue so people may be
more interested in voting when the
time comes, and this may

This report is PUBLIC

being replaced in a single
election.

Disadvantages

•

Provides a regular influx of
newly elected Councillors who
can bring new ideas and fresh
approaches to the Council.

•

Less stability – regular changes
of political control can affect
local businesses and Council
services.

•

Confusing for the electorate as
to which candidate is to be
elected and what the process
is.

•

It is difficult to see through
major policy decisions, or large
infrastructure or regeneration
projects in a single year.

•

Difficult or unpopular decisions
can be put off for future years,
rather than taken when needed.

•

Constant year on year
campaigning by Councillors
and political parties may lead to
voter fatigue and a lack of
interest.

Page 41

increase the number of people
using their vote.

•

A withdrawal of the opportunity to
vote more frequently may
disengage some of the city’s
electors if they only vote once
every four years as opposed to
election by thirds.

•

May be seen as less democratic
as Councillors only get voted in
every four years as opposed to
the current system.

•

If a large number of Councillors
are replaced in one election this
may be disruptive and may lead to
big changes to policies, plans and
services.

•

Newly elected Councillors or
political parties may become
complacent because they know
they won’t have to be re-elected
for another four years.

•

All out elections may give
advantage to larger political
parties which have the resources
to campaign across the city.

•

Would lead to more by-elections
taking place, which would incur
cost.

•

Likely to lead to a greater loss of
experience compared to the
phased introduction/loss of
Councillors when retirements are
by thirds.

•

Less frequent elections could be
detrimental to encouraging
candidates to stand for election as

This report is PUBLIC

the opportunity to serve on the
Council will be less frequent.

3.2

The Electoral Commission produced a report in 2004 recommending that Government
should avoid the current confusion and move to a consistent approach to elections
across England without the option for local choice. That recommendation would need
legislation to enact the change and that has not been made.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

The cost of running local elections to the Council in any year is dependent on whether
they are standalone or combined with Parliamentary, Police and Crime Commissioner or
Combined Authority Mayoral elections. Combined elections costs are effectively shared,
part funded by Government or the Combined Authority.

4.2

The historic cost of running a standalone local election by thirds has been in the region of
£260,000. The cost to the Council as part of a combined election approximately halves. It
is estimated that the additional cost of running an all out election would be no more than
£20,000, consisting largely of extra count staff to manage the higher volume. It is clear,
therefore, that significant cost reductions can be achieved by running a single all out
election rather than three elections by thirds. The exact value of that cost reduction to the
Council over a four year election cycle would be dependent on the schedule of elections
under old and new systems. [GE/2508/2021/H]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications arising from the report. [DP/25082021/B]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising from the report.

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

There are no other implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

8.0

Schedule of Background Papers

8.1

The cycle of local government elections in England, Electoral Commission, January
2004:
https://www.electoralcommission.org.uk/sites/default/files/electoral_commission_pdf_file/
cycleoflocalelecfinal_11595-9056__E__N__S__W__.pdf

Page 42

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 8

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020-2021

Referring body

Audit and Risk Committee

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Alan Butt – Chair of Audit and Risk Committee

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield, Leader of the Council

Accountable director

Claire Nye, Director of Finance

Originating service

Audit

Accountable employee

Lead Officer
Tel
Email

Report has been
considered by

Audit and Risk Committee

Peter Farrow
01902 554460
Peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk
27 September 2021

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Approve the contents of the 2020-2021 Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report.

Page 43

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report summarises the main areas of work undertaken by the Audit and Risk
Committee during 2020-2021.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 27 September 2021 Audit and Risk Committee considered a report on Audit and Risk
Committee Annual Report 2020-2021.

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website here.

2.3

Audit and Risk Committee recommended to Council that it approves:
1. The contents of the 2020-2021 Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report.

3.0

Audit and Risk Committee

3.1

The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is to provide independent assurance on
the adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal control environment. It
provides an independent review of the governance, risk management and control
frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and annual governance processes. It
oversees internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure efficient and effective
assurance arrangements are in place.

3.2

The Audit and Risk Committee work programme continues to be developed and
presented at regular meetings of the Committee.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

The financial implications are detailed in the Audit and Risk Committee report of 27
September 2021.

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

The legal implications are detailed in the Audit and Risk Committee report of 27
September 2021.

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

The equalities implications are detailed in the Audit and Risk Committee report of 27
September 2021.

Page 44

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0

All other Implications

7.1

All other implications are detailed in the Audit and Risk Committee report of 27
September 2021.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

Audit and Risk Committee – Annual Report 2020-2021 – 27 September 2021.

9.0

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1: Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020-2021.

Page 45

This page is intentionally left blank

Audit and Risk Committee
Annual Report
2020 - 2021

wolverhampton.gov.uk

Page 47

The Audit and Risk Committee at Wolverhampton

1
The Audit and Risk Committee
at Wolverhampton
Councillor Alan Butt –
Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee
“The Audit and Risk Committee is a key
component of the Council’s corporate
governance. It provides an independent and
high-level focus on the audit, assurance and
reporting arrangements that underpin good
governance and ﬁnancial standards”.

One of the key roles of Audit and Risk Committee is to provide
independent assurance to the Council on the adequacy of the risk
management framework and the internal control environment. It
provides independent review of the governance, risk management and
control frameworks and oversees the ﬁnancial reporting and annual
governance processers.
By overseeing the operational work of both the internal and external
auditors, the Committee helps to ensure that efﬁcient and effective
assurance arrangements are in place. The key beneﬁts of the
Committee can be seen as:
• increasing public conﬁdence in the objectivity and fairness of ﬁnancial
and other reporting;
• reinforcing the importance and independence of internal and external
audit and similar review processes;
• providing additional assurance through a process of independent
review; and
• raising awareness of the need for internal control and the
implementation of audit recommendations.

Page 48
2 City of Wolverhampton Council

Heading

We believe that our key achievements during the year were:
• Continuing to provide assurance through a process of
independent review and challenge.
• Adapting quickly to holding meetings remotely during the
Pandemic.
• Raising the proﬁle of internal control issues across the Council
and of the need to ensure that audit recommendations are
implemented.
• Regular consideration and review of the risks that the Council
faces, through consideration of both the Covid-19 and
Strategic Risk Register.
• Continuing to maintain a good working relationship with the
Council’s internal and external auditors.
• Building the skills and knowledge of Committee members
through regular technical updates, training and the
consideration of related guidance issued by CIPFA.
• The presence of two independent members serving on the
Committee in order to broaden the Committee’s experience
and independent view point.
• Maintaining a detailed focus on the actions being taken to
combat fraud, in particular around Covid-19 related Business
Support Grants.
• Reviewing and updating the Committee’s Terms of Reference in
order to ensure they remain ﬁt for purpose.

Page 49
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 3

Heading

The Audit and Risk Committee has a cycle of work for each year. It is
based on (but not limited to) the following main sources of assurance:
• Annual Governance Statement - this is the statutory report which
the Committee approves in relation to the council’s Statement of
Accounts.
• Strategic Risk Register - a regular review of the key risks the
Council faces, and how the Committee can gain assurance that they
are being well managed.
• Internal Audit - the ongoing work of, and reports from the Council’s
internal auditors.
• External Audit - the reports submitted to the Committee by the
Council’s external auditors Grant Thornton
From our examination of the Council’s Risk Register and where control
issues are raised by our internal and external auditors, we can summon
senior Council ofﬁcers to justify and answer questions on what actions
are being taken to improve matters and how risks are being managed.
Our ability to have access to all Council activities is a powerful tool and
during the year we held more detailed discussions around controls and
risks on a diverse range of high-proﬁle issues, including a number
arising from Covid-19:
• Procurement Compliance
• Civic Halls
• Modern Day Slavery
• Accounting Estimates
• Home Care Provision during Covid-19
• Safeguarding of Children and Education Provision during Covid-19
• Employee Wellbeing during Covid-19
• Payment Assurance Framework regarding Covid-19 Business
Support Grants
Also, as a Committee we were pleased with the ﬁndings in the External
Auditors Annual Report which overall was a positive one for the Council,
particularly on the Council’s ﬁnancial resilience in these unprecedented
times with an ‘unqualiﬁed opinion’ being given. We appreciate the work
both the Finance team and our External Auditors put into achieving this
outcome.

Page 50
4 City of Wolverhampton Council

The Audit and Risk Committee at Wolverhampton

The impact of Covid-19 on the Committee
A large number of our meetings were held remotely during the year,
both Committee Members and ofﬁcers responded well to this, and we
were able to conduct our business as usual. The end of the year saw us
return to the Council Chamber for meetings once again in person.
From the outset of the pandemic the Council prepared and maintained a
Covid-19 Risk Register, identifying the speciﬁc risks and challenges this
brought. This register alongside the Strategic Risk Register was
presented to, and closely reviewed by the Committee throughout the
year.
We also received regular updates on the assurance framework
established around the processing and payment of the various type of
government support grants set up during the pandemic. This included a
focus upon how we were reducing the risk of any potentially fraudulent
applications being processed, and where a small number were, how
they were being dealt with.
Despite the challenges brought by Covid-19, I believe it has been
another successful year for the Audit and Risk Committee and we look
forward to building on this during 2021-2022
Finally, as the Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee I would like to
thank all the members who served on the Committee during the year,
both the internal and external auditors and all of the other ofﬁcers who
have contributed towards its success.

Councillor Alan Butt

Page 51
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 5

The Audit and Risk Committee at Wolverhampton

Membership of our Committee
• Councillor Alan Butt (Chair)
• Councillor Jonathan Yardley (Vice-Chair)
• Councillor Mary Bateman
• Councillor Phil Bateman MBE
• Councillor Craig Collingswood
• Councillor Andrew McNeil
• Councillor Claire Simm
The following members also served on the Committee
during 2020-2021:
• Former Councillor Roger Lawrence
• Councillor Barbara McGarrity QN
• Councillor Lynne Moran
We are also delighted that during the year we had two highly
experienced Independent Members who bring a level of independent
challenge and outside perspective to the Committee, and we particularly
thank them for volunteering their time:
• Mr Mike Ager
• Mr John Humphries

Page 52
6 City of Wolverhampton Council

Key business

2
Key business
Our key business during the year, by meeting, was:
MEETING

ACTIVITY

22 June 2020

Covid-19 and Strategic Risk Register
Annual Governance Statement 2019-2020
Annual Internal Audit Report 2019-2020
Internal Audit and the impact of Covid-19
CIPFA Audit Committee Update
Payment Transparency
Counter Fraud Update

29 July 2020

Covid-19 Risk Register Update
Draft Statement of Accounts 2019-20

28 September 2020

Update on the Statement of Accounts
Covid-19 and Strategic Risk Register
Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2019-2020
Internal Audit Update
Internal Audit Charter – Annual Review
Counter Fraud Update
Payment Transparency

26 November 2020

Audited Statement of Accounts 2019-2020

Page 53
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 7

Key business

MEETING

ACTIVITY

7 December 2020

Covid-19 and Strategic Risk Register
Internal Audit Update
Counter Fraud Update
Payment Transparency
The Redmond Review

8 March 2021

External Audit Progress Report and Update
External Audit – Informing the Risk Assessment
Accounting Estimates
Accounting Estimate Management Summary
Covid-19 and Strategic Risk Register
Audit and Risk Committee – Terms of Reference
Internal Audit Update
Internal Audit Plan 2020-2021
CIPFA Audit Committee Update
Counter Fraud Update
Payment Transparency

21 June 2021

Accounting Estimates for the West Midlands Pension Fund
Assessment of Going Concern Status
Review of Compliance with the CIPFA Financial
Management Code
Annual Governance Statement 2020-2021
External Audit 2019-2020 Annual Audit Letter
External Audit 20202-2021 Audit Plan

As can be seen from the above, we are responsible for reviewing and approving the formal
publication of the Annual Statement of Accounts, as required by the Accounts and Audit
Regulations. These are a very complex and comprehensive set of accounts, and as stated
above we appreciate the time and support of both the external auditors and the Council’s
Finance Ofﬁcers in this task.

Page 54
8 City of Wolverhampton Council

We play a key role in helping to prevent and detect fraud

3
We play a key role in helping
to prevent and detect fraud
The Council is committed to creating and maintaining an environment
where fraud, corruption and bribery will not be tolerated. This message
is made clear within our Anti-Fraud and Corruption Policy, which states:
“The Council operates a zero tolerance on fraud, corruption and bribery
whereby all instances will be investigated, and the perpetrator(s) will be
dealt with in accordance with established policies. Action will be taken
to recover all monies stolen from the Council.” The counter fraud
agenda is one that continues to also hold signiﬁcant prominence from
Central Government who continue to promote a wide range of counter
fraud activities and initiatives.
One of the roles of the Committee, and one in which it places a great
deal of importance, is to review the assessment of fraud risks and
potential harm to the Council from fraud and corruption along with
monitoring the counter-fraud strategy, actions and resources. We
receive regular reports from the Counter Fraud team which provide us
with updates on a range of fraud related activities including:
• An update on the levels of, and action taken on potential
fraudulent applications relating to Covid-19 Business Support
Grants
• Outcomes from tenancy fraud, subletting and right to buy
investigations
• Results from the Cabinet Ofﬁces National Fraud Initiative
• Latest national fraud benchmarking reports and how the
Council responds to them
• Progress made against the fraud action plan
• Review of the Council’s Fraud Risk Register
We use our time at the committee to consider all of the above, and to
provide the appropriate challenge where necessary in order to ensure
ourselves and the wider Council that we are doing everything we can to
prevent and detect fraud.

Page 55
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2019 - 2020 9

We play a key role in helping to prevent and detect fraud

National Fraud Initiative Report
July 2020

During the year the Committee received the Cabinet Ofﬁce’s latest
National Fraud Initiative Report. The NFI programme is an exercise coordinated by the Cabinet Ofﬁce. Every two years data for the NFI
programme is provided with data from over 1,000 participating
organisations from the public and private sectors including councils,
government departments, private registered providers of social housing
(housing associations) and pension scheme providers.
Those organisations who participate receive the resulting data match
reports for consideration and investigation. The data matches identify
inconsistencies that may require further investigation and allows
potentially fraudulent claims and payments to be identiﬁed.
The report identiﬁed the results from the National Fraud Initiative
exercise for the period April 2018 to April 2020. Fraud of £215.8 million
was detected and prevented through the programme in England.
£65.1m of the total ﬁgure was of detected fraud, with the remaining
£150.7m being an estimated value or potential future loss.
The key areas of fraud detected nationally related to Pensions (£55.5m),
Council Tax Single Person Discount (£43.9m) and Housing Beneﬁt
(£35.0m). Another noticeable area for concern was Housing Tenancy
Fraud and fraud within Housing Waiting Lists (combined £25.7m).
The NFI tool is a valuable contribution in tackling fraud here at the
Council.

Page 56
10 City of Wolverhampton Council

Key developments

4
Key developments

We continued with the following key developments during the year:
• Our work is focussed in high-risk areas and one of our roles is
to help inspire public conﬁdence in the Council. Our meetings
are open to the Public so they are able to witness in person the
challenge we bring.
• We continued to focus on the Council’s risk management
arrangements, gaining an increased assurance that the Council
is managing its risks well and retaining the option of ‘calling-in’
risks and their risk owners, for a more detailed review as
deemed appropriate. The 2020-2021 year saw a particular
focus upon the risks associated with Covid-19.
• We continued to maintain a strong working relationship,
through regular progress meetings, with the Council’s External
Auditors Grant Thornton, our Internal Auditors and Senior
Ofﬁcers. We also had further engagement with Grant Thornton,
through regular consideration of their informative Audit
Committee Update publications at Committee meetings.

Page 57
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 11

Audit and Risk Committee Training Sessions

5
Audit and Risk Committee Training
Sessions
During the year members of the Committee attended a series of remote
training sessions hosted by both Audit Services and the Finance team
on various matters associated with ﬁnance, audit and risk. The
Committee would like to pass on our thanks to the ofﬁcers who
delivered this training, in what were very informative sessions.



Page 58
12 City of Wolverhampton Council

Our conclusion for 2020-2021

6
Our conclusion for 2020-2021

As a result of our work throughout the year, we were able to conﬁrm:
• That the system of internal control, governance and risk management
in the Council was adequate in identifying risks and allowing the
Council to understand the appropriate management of these risks.
• That there were no areas of signiﬁcant duplication or omission in the
systems of internal control, governance and risk management that
had come to the Committee’s attention, and had not been
adequately resolved.

Page 59
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 13

Terms of Reference

7
Terms of Reference

Statement of purpose
Our Audit and Risk Committee is a key component of the
Council’s corporate governance. It provides an independent and
high-level focus on the audit, assurance and reporting
arrangements that underpin good governance and financial
standards.
The purpose of our Audit and Risk Committee is to provide
independent assurance to the members of the adequacy of the
risk management framework and the internal control
environment. It provides independent review of the governance,
risk management and control frameworks and oversees the
financial reporting and annual governance processers. It
oversees internal audit and external audit, helping to ensure
efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place.

Page 60
14 City of Wolverhampton Council

Terms of Reference

Governance, risk and control
• To review the Council’s
corporate governance
arrangements against the good
governance framework and
consider annual governance
reports and assurances.
• To review the annual
governance statement prior to
approval and consider whether
it properly reﬂects the risk
environment and supporting
assurances, taking into
account internal audit’s opinion
on the overall adequacy and
effectiveness of the Council’s
framework of governance, risk
management and control.
• To consider the Council’s
arrangements to secure value
for money and review
assurances and assessments
on the effectiveness of these
arrangements.
• To consider the Council’s
framework of assurance and
ensure that it adequately
addresses the risks and
priorities of the Council.

• To monitor the effective
development and operation of
risk management in the
Council.
• To monitor progress in
addressing risk-related issues
reported to the committee.
• To consider reports on the
effectiveness of internal
controls and monitor the
implementation of agreed
actions.
• To review the assessment of
fraud risks and potential harm
to the Council from fraud and
corruption.
• To monitor the counter-fraud
strategy, actions and
resources.
• To review the governance and
assurance arrangements for
signiﬁcant partnerships or
collaborations.

Page 61
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 15

Terms of Reference

Internal Audit
• To approve the internal audit
charter.
• To review proposals made in
relation to the appointment of
external providers of internal
audit services and to make
recommendations.
• To approve the risk based
internal audit plan, including
internal audit’s resource
requirements, the approach to
using other sources of
assurance and any work
required to place reliance upon
those other sources.
• To approve signiﬁcant interim
changes to the risk-based
internal audit plan and resource
requirements.
• To make appropriate enquiries
of both management and the
head of internal audit to
determine if there are any
inappropriate scope or
resource limitations.
• To consider any impairments to
independence or objectivity
arising from additional roles or
responsibilities outside of
internal auditing of the head of
internal audit. To approve and
periodically review safeguards
to limit such impairments.

• To consider reports from the
head of internal audit on
internal audit’s performance
during the year, including the
performance of external
providers of internal audit
services. These will include:
• Updates on the work of
internal audit including
key ﬁndings, issues of
concern and action in
hand as a result of
internal audit work;
• Regular reports on the
results of the quality
assurance and
improvement
programme;
• Reports on instances
where the internal audit
function does not
conform to the Public
Sector Internal Audit
Standards and Local
Government Application
Note, considering
whether the nonconformance is
signiﬁcant enough that it
must be included in the
annual governance
statement.

Page 62
16 City of Wolverhampton Council

Terms of Reference

• To consider the head of internal
audit’s annual report:
• The statement of the level
of conformance with the
Public Sector Internal
Audit Standards and
Local Government
Application Note and the
results of the quality
assurance and
improvement programme
that supports the
statement - these will
indicate the reliability of
the conclusions of
internal audit.
• The opinion on the overall
adequacy and effectiveness of
the Council’s framework of
governance, risk management
and control together with the
summary of the work
supporting the opinion - these
will assist the committee in
reviewing the annual
governance statement.
• To consider summaries of
speciﬁc internal audit reports
as requested.

• To receive reports outlining the
action taken where the head of
internal audit has concluded
that management has
accepted a level of risk that
may be unacceptable to the
authority or there are concerns
about progress with the
implementation of agreed
actions.
• To contribute to the quality
assurance and improvement
programme and in particular, to
the external quality assessment
of internal audit that takes
place at least once every ﬁve
years.
• To consider a report on the
effectiveness of internal audit to
support the annual governance
statement, where required to
do so by the Accounts and
Audit Regulations.
• To provide free and unfettered
access to the audit committee
chair for the head of internal
audit, including the opportunity
for a private meeting with the
committee.

Page 63
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 17

Terms of Reference

Accountability arrangements
• To report to those charged with
governance on the committee’s
ﬁndings, conclusions and
recommendations concerning
the adequacy and
effectiveness of their
governance, risk management
and internal control
frameworks, ﬁnancial reporting
arrangements, and internal and
external audit functions.

• To report to full Council on a
regular basis on the
committee’s performance in
relation to the terms of
reference, and the
effectiveness of the committee
in meeting its purpose.
• To publish an annual report on
the work of the Committee.

Page 64
18 City of Wolverhampton Council

Page 65
wolverhampton.gov.uk

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report 2020 – 2021 19

wolverhampton.gov.uk 01902 551155
WolverhamptonToday

Wolverhampton_Today

City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St. Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton WV1 1SH

Page 66

@WolvesCouncil

WCC 2071 09.21

You can get this information in large print, braille,
audio or in another language by calling 01902 551155

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Audit and Risk Committee
27 September 2021
Report title

Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report –
2020-2021

Accountable director

Claire Nye, Finance

Originating service

Audit

Accountable employee

Peter Farrow
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

SEB

Head of Audit
01902 554460
peter.farrow@wolverhampton.gov.uk
9 September 2021

Recommendation for decision:
The Audit and Risk Committee is recommended to:
1. Endorse the Audit and Risk Committee Annual Report for 2020-2021 and refer it to Full
Council for approval.

Page 67

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report summarises the main areas of work undertaken by the Audit and Risk
Committee during 2020-2021.

2.0

Background

2.1

The purpose of the Audit and Risk Committee is to provide independent assurance
on the adequacy of the risk management framework and the internal control
environment. It provides an independent review of the governance, risk
management and control frameworks and oversees the financial reporting and
annual governance processes. It oversees internal audit and external audit,
helping to ensure efficient and effective assurance arrangements are in place.

3.0

Progress, options, discussion

3.1

The Audit and Risk Committee will continue to receive regular assurance reports
throughout the year.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
[GE/13092021/M]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

There are no legal implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
[TC/14092021/B]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendation in this report.

7.0

All other implications

7.1

There are no other implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

Audit and Risk Committee – Annual Report

9.0

Schedule of appendices

9.1

To follow.

Page 68

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 9

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021

Report title

Changes to the Constitution

Referring body

Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Paula Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Report has been
considered by

Governance and Ethics
Committee

Chief Operating Officer
01902 550320
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk
22 October 2021

Recommendations for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Approve the amendments to the Constitution as detailed in this report.
2. Authorise the Monitoring Officer to implement the changes.

Page 69

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report outlines the changes made to the constitution for approval by the Council. It is
recommended that the Council agrees to the amendments to the Council’s Constitution
to ensure continuing lawfulness and effectiveness.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 22 October 2021, Governance and Ethics Committee considered a report on
Changes to the Constitution.

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website. here.

2.3

Governance and Ethics Committee recommended to Council that it approves:
1. Amendments to the Constitution as detailed in Appendix 1 to this report.
2. Authorises the Monitoring Officer to implement the changes.

2.4

Only those parts of the constitution listed below are to be amended, the other parts will
remain unchanged.
Section
Part 4 – Full Council
Procedure Rules

2.5

Proposed
To ensure that points of
order are taken at the time
and not at the end of the
councillor speaking.

Rationale
It became clear at the last
meeting that points of order
need to be able to be made
when a councillor is
speaking as otherwise this
may inadvertently allow a
point of order to have been
breached, eg ensuring
compliance with the time
limit.

To update the protocol for
tied votes to remove the
references to named
individuals

To ensure that the
reference is up-to-date.

This is the third of a series of reports – there will be additional reports brought forwards to
review the other parts of the constitution. This is an ongoing process and important that
this takes place as and when the changes are needed and does not wait for the annual
review.

Page 70

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

3.0

Financial implications

3.1

The financial implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of
22 October 2021.

4.0

Legal implications

4.1

The legal implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

5.0

Equalities implications

5.1

The equalities implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report
of 22 October 2021.

6.0

All other Implications

6.1

All other implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

7.0

Schedule of background papers

7.1

Changes to the Constitution, Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021

8.0

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Changes to the Constitution, Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October
2021

Page 71

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Governance and Ethics
Committee
22 October 2021
Report title

Changes to the Constitution

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Wards affected

All Wards

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Democratic Services

Accountable employee

Jaswinder Kaur
Tel
Email

Report to be considered
by

Council

Democratic Services Manager
01902 550320
jaswinder.kaur@wolverhampton.gov.uk
3 November 2021

Recommendations for decision:
The Governance and Ethics Committee recommends that Council:
1. Approves the amendments to the Constitution as detailed in this report.
2. Authorises the Monitoring Officer to implement the changes.

Page 73

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report outlines the changes made to the constitution for approval by the Council. It is
recommended that the Council agrees to the amendments to the Council’s Constitution
to ensure continuing lawfulness and effectiveness.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Governance and Ethics Committee regularly receives reports seeking to update the
Constitution where it is necessary, the last such report was on 9 July 2021.

2.2

The changes being brought forward are following a full review of the Constitution.

2.3

The Constitution has been reviewed in totality and remodelled based on the model
produced for local authorities by a national firm of solicitors, Bond Dickinson model. This
is to ensure the constitution is clear and concise and that the decision-making processes
can be followed by all.

2.4

Only those parts of the constitution listed below are amended, the other parts will remain
unchanged.

2.5

This is the third of a series of reports – there will be additional reports brought forwards to
review the other parts of the constitution. This is an ongoing process and important that
this takes place as and when the changes are needed and does not wait for the annual
review.

3.0

Changes to the Constitution

3.1

The table below details the Articles/Sections to be changed:
Section
Part 4 – Full Council
Procedure Rules

Proposed
To ensure that points of order
are taken at the time and not at
the end of the councillor
speaking.

Rationale
It became clear at the last
meeting that points of order
need to be able to be made
when a councillor is speaking
as otherwise this may
inadvertently allow a point of
order to have been breached,
eg ensuring compliance with
the time limit.

To update the protocol for tied To ensure that the reference
votes to remove the references is up-to-date.
to named individuals

Page 74

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications arising from the proposed amendments to the
Constitution. [GE/1210201/F]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

The Council is required by Section 37 of the Local Government Act 2000 to prepare and
publish a Constitution which contains its standing orders relating to decision-making,
finance and contracts. The Council is also required to keep its Constitution updated. The
Director of Governance is authorised under the constitution to make amendments which
more accurately reflect legislative and organisational changes. This report ensures that
the Council meets its duties. [SZ/12102021/P]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

The Council must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to:
a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is
prohibited by the Equality Act;
b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
c. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic
and persons who do not share it.

6.2

The Constitution seeks to ensure that, in its decision-making and its operations, the
Council fully complies with the public-sector equality duty.

7.0

Any other implications

7.1

There are no other implications arising from recommendations in this report.

8.0

Schedule of background papers

8.1

Changes to the Constitution, Governance Committee,9 July 2021

9.0

Appendices

9.1

None

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 10

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021

Report title

Revised Petitions Scheme

Referring body

Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Paula Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Report has been
considered by

Governance and Ethics
Committee

Chief Operating Officer
01902 550320
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk
22 October 2021

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Approve the revised Petitions Scheme, as detailed in Appendix 1.

Page 77

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report recommends revised petitions arrangements following a review of the
Petitions Scheme. The Councils’ Petition Scheme has been reviewed to ensure the
scheme is legal, fair, transparent and efficient.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 22 October 2021, Governance and Ethics Committee, considered a report on
Revised Petitions Scheme

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website here.

2.3

Governance and Ethics Committee recommended to Council that it approves:
1. The revised Petitions Scheme, as detailed in Appendix 1.

3.0

Financial implications

3.1

The financial implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of
22 October 2021.

4.0

Legal implications

4.1

The legal implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

5.0

Equalities implications

5.1

The equalities implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report
of 22 October 2021.

6.0

All other Implications

6.1

All other implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

7.0

Schedule of background papers

7.1

Revised Petitions Scheme, Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021.

8.0

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Revised Petitions Scheme

8.2

Revised Petitions Scheme, Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021.

Page 78

This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Governance and Ethics
Committee
22 October 2021
Report title

Revised Petitions Scheme

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield,
Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Chief Operating Officer
01902 550320
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to considered by

Council

3 November 2021

Recommendation for decision:
The Governance and Ethics Committee recommends that Council:
1. Approve the revised Petitions Scheme, as detailed in Appendix 1.

Page 79

This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report recommends revised petitions arrangements following a review of the Petitions
Scheme. The Councils’ Petition Scheme has been reviewed to ensure the scheme is legal,
fair, transparent and efficient.

2.0

Background

2.1

The Councils’ Petitions Scheme was previously reviewed in November 2016 .

2.2

Section 46 of the Localism Act 2011 repealed all of Chapter 2 of the Local Democracy,
Economic Development & Construction Act 2009, which in essence removed the
requirement for local authorities to have a statutory petitions scheme. Therefore, the Council
now has greater discretion in how it decides to deal with citizens’ petitions.

2.3

However, it is still considered good practice for a Council to retain a petition scheme
as it sends a clear message to the public that the Council takes their views seriously and
encourages their engagement in the democratic process.

3.0

Revised Petitions Scheme

3.1

The proposed Petition Scheme is attached as Appendix 1 of this report with track changes.

3.2

There are no changes being proposed to the thresholds of how petitions are dealt with. The
Petitions Schemes for neighbouring authorities were reviewed and the Council’s scheme is
akin to comparable neighbouring authorities.

3.3

The minor revisions proposed can be summarised as follows:
Proposed Change
Remove reference to the Local Democracy,
Economic Development and Construction
Act 2009
Strengthen what the Council cannot be
asked to determine and what petitions
should not include.

Rationale
This legislation is no longer applicable.

Provide a recommended official form for
paper petitions instead of paper petitions
should be submitted to the council using the
official form.

To provide flexibility in the way in which
petitions are submitted.

Create a process if petitions are submitted
via an alternate method.

To provide clarity on how petitions will be
handled if they are submitted via an
alternate method.

Create a process for withdrawing/amending
a petition.

To provide clarity on whether a petition can
be withdrawn or amended and the correct
process to follow.

Page 80

To provide further support to lead
petitioners on what is acceptable.

This report is Public
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Provide further guidance on the process to
be followed if a lead petitioner appeals.

To provide clarity on the process if a lead
petitioner feels a petition has not been
dealt with correctly.

4.0

Financial implications

4.1

There are no financial implications associated with the proposed revised petition scheme.
[GE/06102021/G]

5.0

Legal implications

5.1

The duty for local authorities to operate a statutory petition scheme was abolished by the
Localism Act 2011. [SZ/12102021/P]

6.0

Equalities implications

6.1

There are no direct equalities implications arising from this report.

7.0

Any Other Implications

7.1

There are no other implications arising from this report.

8.0

Background papers

8.1

None

9.0

Appendices

9.1

Appendix 1 – Revised Petitions Scheme

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

Petitions and
E-Petitions
Scheme and Guidance

wolverhampton.gov.uk
Page 83

Introduction
The Council welcomes petitions and recognises that they are one way in which citizens
members of Wolverhampton the public can let us know raise their concerns. and have a
direct influence on operational issues and/or a role in the policy development process.
Petitioning provides direct access to elected Councillors and other key policy makers. It
can raise the awareness of a particular campaign and put issues on the Council’s agenda
which might not otherwise be considered. The petitions process is a key part of the
Council’s commitment to participation, openness and accessibility.

Background
Under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009, the
Council is required to have a petitions scheme and thereby a mechanism for
consideration of petitions from the public. Statutory guidance has been provided from the
Department for Communities and Local Government. The Council is required to treat
something as a petition if it is identified as being a petition or it seems to the Council that
it is intended to be a petition.

Main features
1. Anyone who lives, works or studies in Wolverhamptonthe local authority area,
including under 18’s, can sign or organise a petition. The lead petitioner will receive a
direct response. The government guidance recommends that councils be as flexible
as possible in applying these provisions and that they may take account of signatures
of people who do not supply such information.
2. Petitions submitted to the Council must include the following information:
•

•
•

•

Details of the lead petitioner: include name, a contact address to where all
correspondence will be sent and (if possible) an email address and a phone
number. This is the person we will contact to explain how we will respond to the
petition; That person will need to indicate which personal data can be published
on the Council's website in order to enable the Council to meet its obligations
under the Data Protection Act 2018. If the petition does not identify a Lead
Petitioner, signatories to the petition will be contacted, starting with the first
signatory, to agree who will act as the Lead Petitioner. A record of the signatures
submitted for petitions will be deleted after a period of twelve months following
the closed date.
Text of petition: state clearly and concisely what action you want the Council to
take;
Additional information: provide additional information relevant to your petition and
the reasons why you consider the action requested to be necessary. This
information will be made available prior to consideration of your petition and
should be limited to no more than three sides of A4;
Background information including any action you have taken before submitting
the petition: please provide a summary of the action you have taken to try and
resolve the issue of concern including details of elected representatives, Council
employees or other agencies (e.g. Police, etc.) you have approached.

3. Petitions should raise issues which fall within the responsibilities of the Council and
have a public interest in what they propose.
Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page284

4. Petitions submitted which relate to a matter on which a decision has already been
made by the Council may still be considered by the relevant scrutiny body should the
threshold be met, or should officers decide that is the most appropriate course of
action. The Monitoring Officer will determine the scrutiny body to receive the
response to the petition.
5. Petitions should be submitted in good faith and be decent, honest and respectful.
They should not seek to ask the Council to determine:
•
•
•
•

personal or commercial issues;
specific or individual employee relations matters;
disciplinary or grievance matters;
matters which are subject to formal or statutory appeal processes or are sub
judice (under consideration by a judge or court);
• individual planning, licensing and housing issues or school admission appeals
enforcement action or other legal actions in court etc;
• decisions of the Governance and EthicsStandards, Audit and Risk, Planning or
Licensing Committees of the Council.
• matters which are subject to prescribed statutory requirements, such as changes
to governance arrangements e.g. an elected mayor;
6. Petitions should not include:
• offensive, intemperate, inflammatory, sarcastic or provocative language,
discriminatory as defined within equalities legislation or language that might
reasonably offend readers;
• false or defamatory statements;
• information which is protected by an interdict or court order; (e.g. the identities of
children in custody disputes); or in accordance with any other enactment;
• commercially sensitive or confidential material;
• in relation to criminal accusations, the names of individuals, or information that
might easily identify them.
• the names of individual officials of public bodies;
7.

The Council will not take action on any petition which it considers is covered by any
of the above.

8.

Petitioners may not ask for adjudication on personal or commercial interests which
should be determined by a court or other tribunal. Petitioners must also be able to
demonstrate that there is a public interest in what they are calling for.

9.

Petitions which are the same or substantially similar to other petitions and which are
lodged by or on behalf of the same person or organisation will not be considered
unless more than two years have passed since the original petition was considered.
In cases of dispute, the relevant scrutiny body will decide whether a petition is
admissible. For advice regarding these issues, please contact Democratic Services

Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page
85
3

(details on page 4).

9.10. In the period immediately before an election or referendum we may need to deal
with your petition differently – if this is the case, we will explain the reasons and
discuss the revised timescale which will apply. If a petition does not follow the
guidelines set out above, the Council may decide not to do anything further with it.
In that case, we will normally write to you to explain the reasons.

How do I submit a petition?
10.11. Any petitions must be signed by ten or more persons from five or more identifiable
households within Wolverhampton.
12. In order to process the petition, a name, address including postcode, and signature
must be clear for each petitioner..
13. The Council reserves the right to verify each signature on a petition. This can be
significant when establishing whether a petition has obtained the requisite number
of signatures to trigger specific processes.

Paper Petitions
11.14. Paper petitions, a recommended form for use by lead petitioners should be
submitted to the Council using the official form which can be obtained from the
Council’s website: here, or by contacting Democratic Services (details below).
12.15. Please post petitions to:
Democratic Services
City of Wolverhampton Council,
Civic Centre,
St Peter’s Square,
Wolverhampton,
WV1 1SH
or deliver to the Civic Centre asking for Democratic Services at main reception.
13.16. If you do not submit your paper petition using the official form, you will be
contacted by the Democratic Services team and asked to complete and submit the
relevant form.

E-petitions
14.17. The Council welcomes e-petitions which are created and submitted through its
website: http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/article/2920/E-petitions
E-petitions must follow the same guidelines as paper petitions.
Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page486

15.18. When you sign an e-petition you will be asked to provide your name, address and
a valid email address. This will trigger an email containing a link which you must
click in order to confirm the email address is valid. Once this is completed your
‘signature’ will be added to the petition. People visiting the e-petition will be able to
see your name in the list of those who have signed it but your contact details will not
be visible.
16. You will also need to decide how long you would like your petition to be open for
signatures. Petitions can be open for a maximum of 12 months. When you create
an e-petition, it may take up to five working days before it is published online. This is
because we have to check that the content of your petition is suitable before it is
made available for signature.
17.
18.19.
19. If we feel we cannot publish your petition for some reason, we will contact you
within this time to explain. You will be able to change and resubmit your e-petition if
you wish.
20. When your e-petition has reached its end date, you will need to submit it to
Democratic Services, via the website, for processing as this is not done
automatically.
21. Your e-petition will be considered in the same way as a paper petition.
22. Once the- petition has been accepted it will become a public document accessible
via the website and the Lead Petitioners name will be visible. Only the details of the
lead petitioner will be shared with relevant officers and councillors.

Alternative methods
23. Should you choose to use an alternative e-petition system e.g. Change.org, please
be aware that online petition systems outside of the Council’s own e-petition system
do not automatically notify us when a petition has been submitted. thethe lead
petitioner will need to print a copy of the petition statement and the corresponding
signatures and send these into us via post, in person or via email. The Council’s
official form, which can be obtained from the Council’s website, must also be
submitted alongside this information to be considered.

Next Steps
21.24. An acknowledgement will be sent to the lead petitioner with details of what the
Council plan to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear from us again.
25. When you sign an e-petition you can elect to receive this information by email. We
will not send you anything which is not relevant to the e-petition you have signed,
unless you choose to receive other emails from us.
26. Details of the petition will be sent to the Leader of the Council, relevant ward
Councillors, and the responsible Cabinet Member for information. (For citywide
Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page
87
5

petitions, all Councillors will be notified.

If we can do what your petition asks, the acknowledgement may confirm that we
have taken the action requested and the petition will be closed.
22.27. The petition will be considered by the relevant service, the relevant scrutiny body
or by the Council meeting depending on the number of signatures accrued. The
acknowledgement will confirm this and tell you what will happen next.
Petitions with fewer than
2,499 signatures

Petitions with 2,500-4,999
signatures
Petitions with more than
5,000+ signatures

Considered and responded to by employees, within
28 days of receipt by the relevant service area. A
summary of responses will be reported to the
Scrutiny Board, the relevant Cabinet Member(s),
Shadow Leader’s office and, where appropriate, the
relevant Ward Members.
Considered by the relevant scrutiny panel with
recommendations made for action by employees or
review by the Executive as appropriate.
Reviewed and responded to at the next meeting of
the Council.

23. If the petition applies to a planning or licensing application, is a statutory petition (for
example, requesting a referendum on having an elected mayor), or on a matter
where there is already an existing right of appeal, such as council tax banding and
non-domestic rates, other procedures apply. For advice regarding these issues,
please contact Democratic Services (details on page 4).
Petitions eligible for Scrutiny Panel or Full Council
24.28. All petitions that meet the necessary thresholds to be considered by a scrutiny
body or Council will be considered in public.
25.29. Once received, Democratic Services will refer the petition to the relevant Head of
Service (HoS) or nominee to investigate the substance of the petition. The HoS will
consider the content of the petition and determine the response required.
26.30. Should a petition be considered by scrutiny, the HoS will attend along with the
relevant Cabinet Member(s) to respond to the petition.
27.31. A senior Council employee will be present to give evidence at a public meeting if a
petition requests so and if that petition meets the threshold for consideration by
scrutiny or Council. This means that the issue raised in the petition will be discussed
at a meeting which all Councillors can attend. Both the Council and scrutiny will
endeavour to consider the petition at the next appropriate meeting.
28.32. At Council, the lead petitioner will be given five minutes to present the petition at
the meeting and the petition will then be discussed by Councillors for a maximum of
40 minutes. The Council will decide how to respond to the petition at this meeting. It
may decide to take the action the petition requests, not to take the action requested
Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page688

for reasons put forward in the debate, or to commission further investigation into the
matter, for example by a relevant committee or scrutiny panel. Where the issue is
one on which the Cabinet is required to make the final decision, the Council will
decide whether to make recommendations to inform that decision. The lead
petitioner will receive written confirmation of this decision.
29.33. For petitions to be considered by scrutiny, where the subject of the petition cuts
across the remit of more than one scrutiny body it will be dealt with by the body that
is most closely aligned with subject of the petition. The Monitoring Officer will
determine which body that is. The meeting procedure to be followed at scrutiny
meetings is attached at page 8.
30.34. Scrutiny meetings are held in public. The political balance of scrutiny bodies
reflects the political balance of the Council. The role of scrutiny with regard to
petitions is to ensure that appropriate action is taken in respect of each considered
petition.
31.35. The lead petitioner will be invited to appear before scrutiny to speak in support of
the petition and answer questions that Councillors may have. You may nominate
someone else, including a councillor to attend on your behalf. Written evidence can
be provided in support of the petition if it is forwarded to Democratic Services in
advance of the meeting in accordance with access to information requirements.
Scrutiny can deal with your petition in your absence. The relevant HoS or nominee
and Cabinet Member will still attend the meeting.
32.36. A summary of the debate and any recommendations will be recorded in the
minutes. A copy of the minutes will be forwarded to the lead and second petitioner
with ten working days of the meeting.

How will the Council respond to petitions?
33.37. Our response to a petition will depend on what a petition asks for and how many
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Taking the action requested in the petition;
Considering the petition at a Council meeting;
Holding an inquiry into the matter;
Undertaking research into the matter;
Holding a public meeting;
Holding a consultation;
Holding a meeting with petitioners;
Where it contains between 2,500 and 4,999 signatures or where officers
determine that it is the most appropriate course of action, referring the
petition for consideration by the relevant scrutiny body;
Where the petition contains more than 5,000+ signatures, referring it for
consideration by the Full Council meeting;
calling a referendum;
writing to the lead petitioner organiser setting out our views about the
request in the petition.

Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page
89
7

38. If fewer than 2,499 signatures a formal response will be circulated to the Lead
Petitioner within 28 Days of receiving the petition or of the closing date of the epetition and a copy will be published on the council website and easily accessible
from the relevant pages of the e-petition.
34.39. If your petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control
(for example the local railway or hospital) we will consider making representations
on behalf of the community to the relevant body. The Council works with a large
number of local partners and where possible will work with these partners to
respond to your petition. If we are not able to do this for any reason (for example, if
what the petition calls for conflicts with Council policy), then we will inform you of
this. You can find more information on the services for which the Council is
responsible here http://www.wolverhampton.gov.uk/
40. If your petition is about something for which a different Council is responsible the
petition will be referred to the relevant Cabinet Member(s) to consider what the best
method is for responding to it. This might consist of simply forwarding the petition to
the other Council but could involve other steps. In any event, we will always notify
you of the action we have taken.

Withdrawing/amending your petition
41. The only change that can be made once an e-petition has been published online, is
the date when it is due to close. If the lead petitioner requires any other changes to
be made, such as amending the wording of the petition, Democratic Services will
withdraw the e-petition from the website and it will need to be resubmitted by the
lead petitioner with the amendments included.
42. Any signatures collected for that e-petition prior to its withdrawal will not be
automatically transferred to the revised petition.)
43. The Lead Petitioner may request, in writing, the withdrawal of a petition. Such
requests will be considered by Democratic Services but in general it should be
assumed that the Council will process all valid petitions received.
44. Where Democratic Services is minded to permit the Lead Petitioner to withdraw a
petition, the Director of Governance shall be consulted.

What can I do if I feel my petition has not been dealt with properly?
45. If the Lead main pPetitioner contact is not satisfied with the process followed during
consideration of their his/her petition, they he/she may appeal in writing to the
Scrutiny Board by notifying the Scrutiny and Systems Manager of their his/her
intention to appeal within 20 working days of being notified of the Council’s decision
on the petition. The correspondence should set out the reasons why the Lead
Petitioner considers a review should be conducted.
46. The request will be considered by the Chair of Scrutiny Board consulting with the
Scrutiny and Systems Manager. If it is felt that there is sufficient case to warrant a
review the matter should then be referred to the Council's Scrutiny Board for
consideration. The Scrutiny and Systems Manager will arrange for the matter to be
considered by the next available meeting of the Council's Scrutiny Board and will
Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page890

notify the Lead Petitioner of the date of this meeting.
35.47. If the Council's Scrutiny Board considers the Council has not dealt with the petition
in accordance with this scheme, it may make recommendations to the appropriate
Cabinet Member.
48. Once the request has been considered the Lead Petitioner will be informed of the
result within 5 working days.

Petitions Scheme
36.49. These arrangements for considering petitions came into operation on XXX10
November 2016.

Contact
For further information and advice on the petitions process, please contact
Democratic Services:
Email: democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Telephone: 01902 550320 XXXX2873
Write to: Democratic Services, City of Wolverhampton Council, Civic Centre, St
Peter’s Square, Wolverhampton, WV1 1SH

Petitions Scheme November 2016XXXX

Page
91
9

Public Petition
Please be aware that all personal data collected via this petition will be processed, upon submission
to City of Wolverhampton Council, in accordance with relevant data protection legislation. Only the
details of the lead petitioner will be shared with relevant officers and councillors. Should you

wish to submit a public petition for consideration, please refer to the guidance leaflet
Petitions and E-Petitions Scheme and the Guidance Notes at the back of this form.
Petition Title

Petition Text (briefly
describe your issue,
problem or request and
what you want the City of
Wolverhampton Council
to do)

Background information,
including any actions
taken to resolve issues of
concern before
submission of petition
(please use extra sheets if
necessary)

Page 92

Total number of petition
signatures
Contact information
Lead Petitioner (You will be
the contact for this petition)

Address

Contact number
Email address
Should the Committee
consider it necessary, in
order to broaden its
understanding of the
petition, it may invite a
petitioner to appear
before and give an oral
presentation and answer
questions. Would you
wish, if invited, to appear?
Signature of lead
petitioner
Date of submission

Yes / No

Please return completed forms to:
Democratic Services
City of Wolverhampton Council
Civic Centre
St Peter’s Square
Wolverhampton
WV1 1SH
Email: democratic.services@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Tel: 01902 5503202873

Page 93

Name (please print)

Work/educational
establishment address

Home address

Signature

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30

Only sign this petition if you live, work or study in Wolverhampton. You must supply a valid home
address and postcode. Please also include a work or educational establishment address and
postcode if you do not live in Wolverhampton, otherwise the entry will be discarded. You are not
allowed to sign this petition on behalf of any other person. Those wishing to participate in this
petition must sign for themselves. Any replicate signatures will not be counted.

Page 94

1. Name of petitioner:
Please insert your name or, in the case of a petition being presented on behalf
of a group e.g. a community council, the name of the person who is to represent
the group and who will be the main contact.
2. Petition title:
Please give your petition a title that relates directly to the subject matter.
3. Text of petition:
The petition should clearly state what action the petitioner wishes the Council to
take. Please note that this should be limited to no more than five lines of text.
4. Background information:
Please insert relevant, factual background information and set out the reasons
why you consider the action requested to be necessary.
Before submitting your petition, petitioners should have made an attempt to
resolve the issues of concern. Please provide a summary of the action taken to
resolve your concern including details of Councillors approached, what
happened, what was the result etc.
This information should be limited to no more than two sides of A4.
5.4. Contact information:
Please provide as much of the requested information as possible. This
information is necessary for the administration of your petition. Please, in
particular, provide a contact telephone number and e-mail address if you have
one. This will enable the Democratic Services team to contact you quickly and
efficiently in regard to your petition if necessary. These details will not be
published.

Page 95

Page 96

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 11

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021

Report title

Adopting a Definition of Islamophobia

Referring body

Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October 2021

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Paula Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Team

Accountable employee

Jin Takhar
Tel
Email

Report has been
considered by

Governance and Ethics
Committee

Jin Takhar
01902 555650
Jin.takhar@wolverhampton.gov.uk

22 October 2021

Recommendations for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Approve the adoption of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims (APPG)
definition of Islamophobia as follows:
“Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness.”
2. Confirm that it will continue to prioritise tackling hate crime and Islamophobia in
partnership with all stakeholders; listen to their concerns and develop policies that will
continue to ensure we live in an inclusive city.

Page 97

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report provides background information on the All-Party Parliamentary Group on
British Muslims (APPG) definition of Islamophobia, other optional definitions, and
proposes appropriate recommendations to Council.

2.0

Background

2.1

On 22 October 2021, Governance and Ethics Committee considered a report on
Adopting a Definition of Islamophobia.

2.2

Copies of the report have been supplied to Councillors and can also be accessed online
on the Council’s website here.

2.3

Governance and Ethics Committee recommended to Council that it:
1. Approves the adoption of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims
(APPG) definition of Islamophobia as follows:
“Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness.”
2. Confirm that it will continue to prioritise tackling hate crime and Islamophobia in
partnership with all stakeholders; listen to their concerns and develop policies that will
continue to ensure we live in an inclusive city.

3.0

Financial implications

3.1

The financial implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of
22 October 2021.

4.0

Legal implications

4.1

The legal implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

5.0

Equalities implications

5.1

The equalities implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report
of 22 October 2021.

6.0

All other Implications

6.1

All other implications are detailed in the Governance and Ethics Committee report of 22
October 2021.

Page 98

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7.0

Schedule of background papers

7.1

Adopting a definition of Islamophobia, Governance and Ethics Committee, 22 October
2021.

8.0

Appendices

8.1

Appendix 1: Adopting a definition of Islamophobia

Page 99

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Governance and Ethics
Committee
22 October 2021
Report title

Adopting a definition of Islamophobia

Cabinet member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Paula Brookfield
Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

Accountable director

David Pattison, Chief Operating Officer

Originating service

Equalities, Diversity and Inclusion Team

Accountable employee

Author name
Tel
Email

Jin Takhar
01902 5545650
Jin.takhar@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be considered
by

Council

3 November 2021

Recommendations for decision:
The Governance and Ethics Committee recommend that Council:
1. Approves the adoption of the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British Muslims (APPG)
definition of Islamophobia as follows:
“Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness.”
2. Confirms that it will continue to prioritise tackling hate crime and Islamophobia in
partnership with all stakeholders; listen to their concerns and develop policies that will
continue to ensure we live in an inclusive city.

Page 101

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0 Purpose
1.1 This report provides background information on: the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British
Muslims (APPG) definition of Islamophobia, other optional definitions and proposes
appropriate recommendations to Council.
2.0 Background
2.1 This briefing is prepared following a request to consider where the Council stands on
Islamophobia. The Council has committed itself to and delivered a truly broad range of
actions and initiatives to combat the scourge of racism over many years. It does not however
have a statement in its Constitution; in the Councillor or the Employee Codes of Conduct
that specifically mentions challenging this form of racism or of any other form of racism, other
than that of Anti-Semitism. Governance Committee approved a recommendation on 11
September 2020 which resulted in an addition to the Council’s Constitution only, i.e. not to
the Codes of Conduct.i Officers have previously drafted a briefing on Islamophobia in 2019
but at the time it was decided not to proceed with a Council adoption of a stance based on a
definition as at that time there was no specific definition of Islamophobia that enjoyed broad
support. The Government’s response to the All-Party Parliamentary Group on British
Muslims (APPG) consultation work being to seek further development of the definition.
2.2 The APPG was launched in 2017. The Group was established to highlight the aspirations
and challenges facing British Muslims; to celebrate the contributions of Muslim communities
to Britain and to investigate prejudice, discrimination and hatred against Muslims in the UK.
2.3

The APPG argues that, in order to tackle anti-Muslim hatred, the “Government, statutory
agencies, civil society organisations and principally, British Muslim communities” should
adopt this “working definition of Islamophobia”, which emerged from its inquiry:
“Islamophobia is rooted in racism and is a type of racism that targets expressions of
Muslimness or perceived Muslimness”.

2.4 The Runnymede Trust in its 1997 Report popularised the term Islamophobia because it
recognised that racism against Muslims was going unchallenged because Muslims were not
considered to be a ‘racial’ group.
2.5 The Muslim Council of Britain (MCB) supports the APPG definition of Islamophobia following
its year-long consultation across the UK; its June 2019 report ‘Defining Islamophobia: A
Contemporary Understanding of How Expressions of Muslimness are Targeted’ argues that
the APPG definition of Islamophobia. First put forward in 2019, “has since become the
preeminent reference point for Islamophobia in the UK today.”
2.6 The MCB report, gives a detailed account of how the definition has since been embraced
by Muslim communities around the Country and proposes for this most “preeminent
definition of Islamophobia to be taken up.”
2.7 The report also claims that “the APPG definition of Islamophobia has been adopted by a
cross section of political parties, local government, civil society and activists” all motivated
by the desire to challenge hatred and discrimination against Muslims. The report amplifies

Page 102

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

the need for all civil society leaders to take a proactive approach to identifying and
addressing Islamophobia.
2.8

It is worthy to note that 22 local authorities have adopted the APPG definition including
Walsall, Manchester, Birmingham, Coventry and a number of London Borough Councils.

2.9

The latest figures for Islamophobic hate crime in Wolverhampton indicate that there have
been 6 incidents of Islamophobic hate crime between May and August 2021 from a total of
375 reported incidents. It should be noted however that Islamophobic incidents are not
considered race hate crimes and that some incidents will only be indicated as a religious
hate incident when they are actually Islamophobic in nature. Additionally, it should also be
noted that reported incidents of hate crime are a very small proportion of the actual number.

2.10 With the low reporting rates of hate crime on grounds of religion, this is a community that
the Community Safety Partnership needs to reach out to and understand the experiences
of the local Muslim community.
2.11 Islamophobic incidents can be recorded as both religious based hate incidents and racist
incidents. Muslims may be practising or not, but still be targeted due to their ethnicity, and
non-Muslims, who are from South Asian, Middle Eastern or other ethnic groups associated
with the stereotype of a Muslim, can also be targeted with Islamophobia. Given the
significant size of the South Asian population in Wolverhampton this discussion needs to
encompass all affected communities.
3.0

Other Definitions

3.1 A number of English / Oxford dictionary definitions of Islamophobia do exist, such as:
“Irrational fear of, aversion to, or discrimination against Islam or people who practice Islam.”
3.2 “Islamophobia is the fear, hatred of, or prejudice against the Islamic religion or Muslims
generally.”
3.3

In the 1997 Runnymede report, Islamophobia was defined as:
“An outlook or world-view involving an unfounded dread and dislike of Muslims, which results
in practices of exclusion and discrimination."

3.4 Another definition widely used:
“Islamophobia is rooted in racism or prejudice of Islam.”
3.5 “Islamophobia is any distinction, exclusion, or restriction towards, or preference against,
Muslims (or those perceived to be Muslims) that has the purpose or effect of nullifying or
impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise, on an equal footing, of human rights and
fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social, cultural or any other field of public
life”.
Runnymede Trust, Islamophobia Still A Challenge. 2017
3.6 “a prejudice, aversion, hostility, or hatred towards Muslims and encompasses any
distinction, exclusion, restriction, discrimination, or preference against Muslims that has the
purpose or effect of nullifying or impairing the recognition, enjoyment or exercise, on an

Page 103

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

equal footing, of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social,
cultural or any other field in public life.”
MEND – Muslim Engagement and Development. 2018
3.7 ‘In our reporting, Islamophobia includes when someone is targeted, discriminated against
or excluded in any way, due to their actual or perceived Muslim identity. It also includes
prejudice that promotes fear against Muslims and Islam’
3.8 A brief web-search indicates that Councils who have adopted a definition of Islamophobia
have adopted the APPG definition though only a small number have adopted the definition
on Islamophobia at this time.
4.0 Options and Reasons for Recommendations
4.1 Adopting the APPG definition could be seen to add value to the existing commitment to
Equality and Diversity and help contribute to the Council’s compliance with the Equality Act
2010 and Public Sector Equality Duty, particularly in relation to those that come under the
Religion and Belief Protected Characteristic.
4.2 The adoption of the definition will support CWC and the Community Safety Partnership in
proactively tackling Islamophobia in Wolverhampton.
5.0 Financial Implications
5.1 It is anticipated that any policy and training material reviews required following the adoption
of the Islampophobia definition will be conducted using existing staffing resources.
[GE/20092021/D]
6.0 Legal Implications
6.1 Whilst the APPG definition of Islamophobia is not legally binding its adoption will support the
Council’s obligations under the Equality Act 2010, and its responsibilities under the Public
Sector Equality Duty, to demonstrate due regard and to:
a. Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct
prohibited by the Act.
b. Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic
and those who do not
c.

Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and those
who do not. [SZ/27092021/P]

7.0 Equality Implications
7.1 Part of the issue when considering the definition of Islamophobia in relation to the provisions
of the Equality Act 2010 is that unlike Anti-Semitism where people from a Jewish faith
background constitute a racial, as well as a religious group, is that Muslims do not constitute

Page 104

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

a racial group and therefore harassment or discrimination of Muslims, as far as the Act is
concerned would relate to Religion and Belief discrimination or harassment only.
7.2 Adoption of the APPG definition of Islamophobia, would not conflict with the Council’s duties
under the Equality Act 2010. It will be a matter for the Council to consider how these
definitions are given effect in equality policies and the codes of conduct for councillors and
employees
7.3 Should the Council adopt a definition from this repot the Council’s Constitution, codes,
polices or strategies etc will be amended and be the subject of a future report(s) to ratify the
proposals.
8.0 All other Implications
8.1 There are no other implications arising from the recommendation in this report.
9.0 Schedule of background papers
9.1 None

Page 105

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 12

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

In Year Appointments for the 2021-2022
Municipal Year

Referring body

N/A

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Ian Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Accountable director

Tim Johnson, Chief Executive

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

N/A

Chief Operating Officer
01902 550320
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to approve:
1. The appointment of Councillor Milkinder Jaspal to the Audit and Risk Committee for the
remainder of the Municipal year 2021/2022.
2. The appointment of co-opted member Tina Richardson, representing Healthwatch
Wolverhampton to the Health Scrutiny Panel for the remainder of the Municipal year
2021/2022.
3. The appointment of Councillor Dr Mike Hardacre as a co opted member on the Strategic
SEND and Commissioning Partnership Board.

Page 107

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

To approve in year appointments for the 2021- 2022 municipal year.

2.0

Background

2.1

The composition of the Audit and Risk Committee and Health Scrutiny Panel was
approved at the meeting of Annual Council on 19 May 2021.

2.2

Councillor Harman Banger was removed from the membership of the Audit and Risk
Committee in June 2021.

2.3

There is currently one Labour Group vacancy on the Audit and Risk Committee.

2.4

There is currently one co-opted member vacancy on the Health Scrutiny Panel.

2.5

The Council have been approached to appoint the lead member of Education and Skills
to the Strategic SEND and Commissioning Partnership Board as a co-opted member to
provide political engagement and oversight.

3.0

Evaluation of alternative options

3.1

The alternative option to the proposed recommendations would be to not appoint. This
would prevent the Labour Group and Healthwatch Wolverhampton from taking up its
allocation of seats on the Audit and Risk Committee and Health Scrutiny Panel.

4.0

Reasons for decisions

4.1

This decision will ensure that the Council’s legal duty for committee membership to
reflect the political composition of the Council is met.

5.0

Financial implications

5.1

There are no financial implications arising from the recommendations in this report.
[CN/17092021/U].

6.0

Legal implications

6.1

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the Council to review periodically
the political composition of the Authority, and how this is applied to appointments to
Council bodies.

6.2

The rules for securing political balance on Committee and Sub-Committees appointed by
local authorities are contained in sections 1 and 16 of the Act and the Local Government
(Committees and Political Groups) Regulations, 1990.

6.3

The Council is under a duty to:

Page 108

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

• Ensure that the membership of those committees and sub-committees covered by the
rules reflect the political composition of the Council, as far as practicable;
• Review the allocation of seats to political groups at or as soon as practical after the
Annual Council meeting and at certain other specified times e.g. as a result of changes in
political balance or an increase in the number of committees established;
• Allocate seats on the committees to the political groups in proportion to their numerical
strength on the Council, as far as practicable;
• Accept nominations made by the groups for the fillings of seats allocated to them.
6.4

In determining the allocation of seats, the Council must also apply the following four
principles, as far as reasonably practicable; A. Not all seats to be allocated to the same
political group; B. If a political group has a majority on the Council, it must have a majority
of seats on committees; C. Subject to (a) – (b) above, the total of all seats on ordinary
committees should be allocated to the groups in proportion to their respective strength on
the Council; and D. Subject to (a) – (c) the number of seats on ordinary committees or
sub-committees to be allocated to each political group in proportion to the number of all
the seats on the committee or sub-committee in proportion to their respective strength on
the Council.

6.5

In accordance with the Constitution, Individual Cabinet Members are empowered to
make Individual Executive Decisions in respect of their area of responsibility, subject to
the decision not falling within one of the exceptions listed in the Constitution. The Leader
of the Council has lead responsibility to agree permanent membership changes to
Cabinet Panels, Regulatory or other committees and Forums and the Scrutiny Board and
Scrutiny Panels, in between annual meetings of the Council. The recommendations
proposed in this report do not fall within the list of exemptions that would require that the
matter be considered collectively by Cabinet.
[SZ/16102021/P]

7.0

Equalities implications

7.1

There are no equalities implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

8.0

All other Implications

8.1

There are no other implications arising from the recommendations in this report.

9.0

Schedule of background papers

9.1

Council – 19 May 2021, Political balance, appointment of the Cabinet, appointments to
Scrutiny and Regulatory and other Committees, and appointments to outside bodies for
2021-2022

9.2

Council – 9 July 2021, Decision Made Under Urgent Action Powers

Page 109

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Page 110

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the City Council
19 May 2021
Report title

Political balance, appointment of the Cabinet,
appointments to Scrutiny and Regulatory and
other Committees, and appointments to outside
bodies for 2021-2022

Referring body

n/a

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Accountable director

David Pattison, Director of Governance

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee(s)

Jaswinder Kaur
Tel
Email

Report to be/has been
considered by

n/a

Democratic Services Manager
01902 550320
jaswinder.kaur@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendations for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. Approve the political composition of the Council, and how this is applied to appointments
to Council bodies, in accordance with the political balance model set out in Appendix 1.
2. Note the appointment, by the Leader of the Council, of Councillors to the Cabinet, the
specified lead Cabinet Member roles and Cabinet Panels set out in Appendix 2.
3. Approve the appointment of Councillors to the Scrutiny Board, and Scrutiny Panels,
including Chairs and Vice-chairs, as set out in Appendix 3.
4. Approve the appointment of Councillors to Regulatory, Oversight and other Committees
and advisory groups, including Chairs and Vice-Chairs, and the appointment of
Councillor Champions, as set out in Appendix 4.

Page 111

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

5. Approve the appointments to Joint Authorities/Committees and Outside Bodies, as set
out in Appendices 5 and 6, including lead, substitute lead and voting Councillors.

Page 112

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

This report deals with a number of matters which must be determined at the Annual
Council Meeting in accordance with the Council's Constitution, principally covering the
appointment of the Cabinet and Cabinet Panels, the Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels,
Regulatory and other Committees, and representation on Joint Authorities/Committees
and outside bodies.

2.0

Background
Political Balance

2.1

The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 requires the Council to review periodically
the political composition of the Authority, and how this is applied to appointments to
Council bodies.

2.2

The rules for securing political balance on Committees and Sub-Committees appointed
by local authorities are contained in sections 15 and 16 of the Act and the Local
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations, 1990.

2.3

The Council is under a duty to:
 ensure that the membership of those committees and sub-committees covered by
the rules reflect the political composition of the Council, as far as practicable;
 review the allocation of seats to political groups at or as soon as practical after the
Annual Council meeting and at certain other specified times e.g. as a result of
changes in political balance or an increase in the number of committees established;
 allocate seats on the committees to the political groups in proportion to their
numerical strength on the Council, as far as practicable;
 accept nominations made by the groups for the filling of seats allocated to them.

2.4

In determining the allocation of seats, the Council must also apply the following four
principles, as far as reasonably practicable:
(a) not all seats to be allocated to the same political group;
(b) if a political group has a majority on the Council, it must have a majority of seats on
committees;
(c) subject to (a) – (b) above, the total of all seats on ordinary committees should be
allocated to the groups in proportion to their respective strength on the Council; and
(d) subject to (a) – (c) The number of seats on ordinary committees or sub-committees
to be allocated to each political group in proportion to the number of all the seats on
the committee or sub-committee in proportion to their respective strength on the
Council.

2.5

Under Section 17 of the Local Government and Housing Act, 1989 and Regulation 20 of
the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations, 1990, certain
bodies of the Council are exempt from the requirements relating to political balance as
they are established under separate legislation. For this reason, the following bodies are
not covered by these arrangements:-

Page 113

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]





The Cabinet
Cabinet Panels
Licensing Sub-Committee

2.6

Additionally, where meetings are (a) advisory in nature or (b) where the Council has
determined otherwise, and no Councillor has voted against, the political balance
requirements need not apply.

2.7

The current political balance of the Council is:
Labour
44
Conservative
15
Independent Member 1
Total

2.8

60

Appendix 1 sets out the proposed allocation of Councillors to the Cabinet, Scrutiny Board
and Panels, Regulatory and other Committees to reflect the political balance of the
Council. For completeness, it includes those bodies which are not subject to the balance
requirements set out in paragraph 2.5 above.
The Cabinet

2.9

Under the Local Government Act, 2000, the Cabinet may comprise no more than
ten members. As indicated in paragraph 15(iii), under the provisions of t he Local
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, the Council has adopted the
Leader and Cabinet Executive model for the future governance arrangements of the
Council. Under this model, Cabinet Members are appointed by the Leader from members
of the Council.

2.10 The Council is asked to note the appointments to the Cabinet and Cabinet Panels,
including the nominations for the specified lead Cabinet Member roles, set out in
Appendix 2.
Overview and Scrutiny
2.11 The Council is asked to appoint Councillors, including Chairs and Vice-chairs, to the
Scrutiny Board and Scrutiny Panels, as listed in Appendix 3 and in accordance with the
nominations of the political groups.
Regulatory and Oversight, Other Panels/Committees/Boards and Advisory
Groups
2.12 The Council is asked to appoint Councillors to the various Regulatory and Oversight,
other Panels/Committees/Boards and Advisory Groups, including Chairs and Vicechairs, as listed in Appendix 4. The allocation of seats is in accordance with the
political balance rules, and the nominations of the political groups.

Page 114

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Councillor Champion
2.13 The proposals for the appointment of Councillor Champions are set out in Appendix 4.
Joint Authorities/Committees and Outside Bodies
2.14 Appendices 5 and 6 set out the proposed appointments to the various Joint
Authorities/Committees, including lead, substitute lead and voting Councillors, and
various outside bodies based on the nominations received from the political groups. (It
is necessary formally to terminate the appointment of any existing Member of a
Joint Authority who is replaced at the Annual Meeting, or at any other time.)
3.0

Financial implications

3.1

A number of roles, such as Cabinet Members and Scrutiny Panel chairs, attract the
payment of Special Responsibility Allowances. These are funded from the £972,000
budget set aside for all Councillor allowances within Democratic Services.
[GE/06052021/K]

4.0

Legal implications

4.1

Paragraphs 2.2, 2.3, 2.4, 2.6 and 2.10 above detail the legal implications of this report.
[DP/11052021/A]

5.0

Equalities implications

5.1

There are no specific equalities implications arising from this report.

6.0

Any other implications

6.1

There are no other implications arising from this report.

7.0

Schedule of background papers

7.1

None.

Page 115

This page is intentionally left blank

City of Wolverhampton Council - Political Balance 2021-2022
Political Group
Labour
Conservative
Independent
Total

Councillors
44
15
1

Seats to allocate
107.0666667
36.5
2.433333333

60

146
Total
Membership

Voting
Co-optees

Cabinet
Cabinet (Resources) Panel

10
10

0
0

Scrutiny Board
Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel
Children, Young People & Families Panel
Our Council Panel
Stronger City Economy Panel
Health Scrutiny Panel
Vibrant and Sustainable City Panel
Audit and Risk Committee
Corporate Parenting Board
Governance and Ethics Committee
Licensing Committee
Pensions Committee
Local Pension Board
Planning Committee
TOTALS

13
12
17
12
12
12
12
10
10
10
12
10
2
12
156

0
0
4
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
7

Allocations

APPENDIX 1

Allocation

Non
Council
Voting
Membership
Co-optees to Allocate
0
10
0
10

Page 117

0
0
1
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
3

13
12
12
12
12
9
12
8
10
10
12
10
2
12
146

Labour

Conservative

10
10

10
10

0
0

9.53
8.80
8.80
8.80
8.80
6.60
8.80
5.87
7.33
7.33
8.80
7.33
1.47
8.80
107.07

10
9
9
9
9
7
8
5
7
7
9
8
2
9
108

3.25
3.00
3.00
3.00
3.00
2.25
3.00
2.00
2.50
2.50
3.00
2.50
0.50
3.00
36.50

Notes
1 A party does not qualify as being a group unless it has two or more members and is therefore not allocated seats proportionally.
2 All Councillors to serve on at least two bodies. No Councillor to serve on more than five.
3 Minimum majority arrangements will not apply to the Scrutiny Board/Scrutiny Panels.
4 Leader of Council ex officio member of all Cabinet Panels.

3
3
3
3
3
2
3
2
3
3
3
2
0
3
36

Independent Member
*note 1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
2

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2a
MUNICIPAL YEAR 2021-2022
APPOINTMENT OF CABINET AND CABINET PANELS
CABINET (10)
Cllr Ian Brookfield (Leader of the Council)

Cllr Paula Brookfield (Cabinet Member for
Governance and Equalities)

Cllr Stephen Simkins (Deputy Leader Inclusive
City Economy)

Cllr Obaida Ahmed (Cabinet Member for
Digital City)

Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre (Cabinet Member for
Education, Skills and Work)

Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal (Cabinet Member for
City Assets and Housing)

Cllr Steve Evans (Cabinet Member for City
Environment and Climate Change)

Cllr Linda Leach (Cabinet Member for Adults)

Cllr Beverley Momenabadi (Cabinet Member
for Children and Young People)

Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Cabinet Member for Health
and Wellbeing)

RESOURCES PANEL (10)
Cllr Ian Brookfield (Leader of the Council)

Cllr Paula Brookfield (Cabinet Member for
Governance and Equalities)

Cllr Stephen Simkins (Deputy Leader Inclusive
City Economy)

Cllr Obaida Ahmed (Cabinet Member for
Digital City)

Cllr Dr Michael Hardacre (Cabinet Member for
Education, Skills and Work)

Cllr Bhupinder Gakhal (Cabinet Member for
City Assets and Housing)

Cllr Steve Evans (Cabinet Member for City
Environment and Climate Change)

Cllr Linda Leach (Cabinet Member for Adults)

Cllr Beverley Momenabadi (Cabinet Member
for Children and Young People)

Cllr Jasbir Jaspal (Cabinet Member for Health
and Wellbeing)

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2b

Cabinet Portfolios

1.0

Leader of the Council

2.0

Deputy Leader: Inclusive City Economy

3.0

Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities

4.0

Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Work

5.0

Cabinet Member for Children and Young People

6.0

Cabinet Member for Adults

7.0

Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

8.0

Cabinet Member for City Assets and Housing

9.0

Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate Change

10.0

Cabinet Member for Digital City

Page 121

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2b

Cabinet Portfolio
The Leader of the Council

Policy Area
 Council Plan
 Relight our City
 City Partnerships
 West Midlands Combined Authority
 International, national, regional and sub-regional
Leadership
 External relations, Public Relations and
Reputation Management
 New Communities and migration
 Our Money including Medium term financial
planning
a. capital strategy (incl. schools)
b. budget development process
c. treasury management strategy
 Council tax and business rates
 Housing benefits and council tax benefits
 Procurement and Commercialisation
 Audit and Corporate risk

Deputy Leader: Inclusive
City Economy

 Relight our City: Grow our vital local businesses
 City Planning, incl. policy, development control,
building control
 Supporting City businesses
 Stimulating Inward investment
 Cultural and Creative economy incl. arts, tourism
and culture
 Economic growth and inclusion partnerships
 City Marketing
 Community wealth building / Wolverhampton
Pound

Cabinet Member for
Governance and Equalities

 Relight our City: Fair and Inclusive
 Legal
 Democratic Services, Scrutiny & Councillor
Support
 Electoral Registration & Elections
 Information Governance
 Mayoralty
 Equalities
 Complaints and feedback
 Our People Strategy Incl. Organisation
Development
 Health and Safety

Page 122

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2b

Cabinet Portfolio
Cabinet Member for
Education, Skills and Work

Policy Area
 Relight our City: Create more opportunities for
young people
 Relight our City: Generate more jobs and
learning opportunities
 Early Years
 School standards and attainment
 Strategic School place planning
 School admissions
 0-25 Special Educational Needs and Disability
 Education inclusion incl. behaviour, attendance
and elected home education
 School governance
 Home to school transport
 Post 16 School Education provision
 Adult Education
 Higher and further education (incl.
Wolverhampton College and universities)
 Skills and employability
 Commercial services to schools
 Health and wellbeing for schools

Cabinet Member for
Children and Young People

 Relight our City: Create more opportunities for
young people
 Relight our City: Support people who need us
most
 Children’s safeguarding incl. prevention of
exploitation
 Children in need and in need of protection
 Children and young people in care and care
leavers
 Corporate parenting
 Early intervention, prevention and specialist
services
 Children’s Transformation work (incl. specific
funded programmes)
 Youth Offending
 Children and young people partnership working
 Children and young people’s health incl.
disabilities and emotional health and wellbeing
 Children’s Services commissioning
 Children and Young People’s participation and
engagement

Page 123

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2b

Cabinet Portfolio
Cabinet Member for Adults

Policy Area
 Relight our City: Support people who need us
most
 Social care for older people, disabilities and
mental health
 Adult safeguarding
 Carer support
 Welfare rights
 Wolverhampton Information Network
 Better Care Fund and health integration
 Quality and Care provision monitoring
 Adult care commissioning
 Adult user engagement
 Financial Assessments

Cabinet Member for Health
and Wellbeing

 Relight our City: Support people who need us
most
 Preventing Ill Health and reducing Health
Inequalities
 Starting and developing well
 Healthy Life Expectancy
 Healthy Ageing
 Community safety & community cohesion
 Emergency Planning, Resilience and business
continuity
 NHS Partnerships
 Voluntary sector liaison
 Community Engagement
 Public Health Commissioning
 Libraries and Community Hubs

Cabinet Member for City
Assets and Housing

 Relight our City: Stimulate vibrant high streets
and communities
 City Housing Strategy and Housing Policies
 City Prevention of Homelessness Strategy
 City Housing Needs & Affordable Housing incl.
Temporary Accommodation
 City Private Housing Services Incl. Enforcement
and Civil Penalties
 Safer Homes incl. National Residential Building
Safety Programme
 City Residential Landlord Services –
Wolverhampton Homes Arms Length
Management Company
 City Residential Landlord Services – Tenant
Management Organisations Right to Manage
Tenant Organisations and Cooperatives

Page 124

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 2b

Cabinet Portfolio

Policy Area
 City Housing Company – WV Living Ltd
 City Housing Development Strategy
 Our Assets Programme Incl. City Strategic Asset
Plan (incl. Education Assets)
 City Asset Management Plan (incl. Education
Assets)

Cabinet Member for City
Environment and Climate
Change

 Relight our City: Stimulate vibrant high streets
and communities
 Relight our City: Climate focused
 Strategic Transportation
 Operational Transportation incl. highways
management and maintenance
 Waste & Recycling Services
 Street cleansing
 Grounds maintenance, parks operations, country
parks operations
 Markets
 Public protection and consumer protection
 Licensing
 Parking Services
 Bereavement and Registrars
 Coroner
 Fleet management
 Sustainability
 WV Active
 Customer Services
 City Events Programme
 Climate Change

Cabinet Member for Digital
City

 Relight our City: Driven by Digital
 Our Digital including the council’s digital and IT
service
 Our Data including. Insight and Performance
 Digital infrastructure and connectivity
 Digital Inclusion including digital skills
 Digital innovation
 Digital Projects

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 3
APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINY BOARD AND SCRUTINY PANELS – 2021-2022
SCRUTINY BOARD (13)
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE
Cllr Simon Bennett (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Val Evans
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr John Reynolds

Cllr Sue Roberts
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Paul Sweet (Chair)
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Ellis Turrell
(or nominees)

ADULTS AND SAFER CITY SCRUTINY PANEL (12)

Cllr Qaiser Azeem
Cllr Simon Bennett
Cllr Olivia Birch
Cllr Val Evans (Chair)
Cllr Stephanie Haynes
Cllr Sohail Khan (Vice-Chair)

Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Rashpal Kaur
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman

CHILDREN, YOUNG PEOPLE AND FAMILIES SCRUTINY PANEL (12)
Cllr Qaiser Azeem
Cllr Chris Burden
Cllr Adam Collinge (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Val Evans
Cllr Stephanie Haynes

Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Rita Potter (Chair)
Cllr Claire Simm
Cllr Paul Sweet
Cllr Gillian Wildman

Co-opted Members (5)
1 vacancy

Parent governor representative

1 vacancy

Parent governor representative

1 vacancy

Representing the Roman Catholic Church (Diocesan
Schools Commission)

Mr Cyril Randles

Representing the Church of England (Lichfield Board
of Education)

Tom Careless

Representative of the Youth Council

Page 127

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

OUR COUNCIL SCRUTINY PANEL (12)
Cllr Paul Appleby
Cllr Chris Burden
Cllr Johnathan Crofts
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Milkinder Jaspal
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur

Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Zee Russell (Chair)
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Tersaim Singh
Cllr Udey Singh (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Jaqueline Sweetman

STRONGER CITY ECONOMY SCRUTINY PANEL (12)
Cllr Phil Bateman MBE
Cllr Paul Birch
Cllr Adam Collinge
Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Chris Haynes (Vice-Chair)

Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur
Cllr Barbara McGarrity
Cllr Jaqueline Sweetman (Chair)
Cllr Gillian Wildman
Cllr Johnathan Yardley

HEALTH SCRUTINY PANEL (9)
Cllr Greg Brackenridge
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Milkinder Jaspal
Cllr Rashpal Kaur
Cllr Sohail Khan

Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Sue Roberts (Chair)
Cllr Paul Singh (Vice-Chair)

Co-opted Members (3)
Rose Urkovskis
Tracey Cresswell
1 vacancy

Representing Healthwatch Wolverhampton
Representing Healthwatch Wolverhampton
Representing Healthwatch Wolverhampton

VIBRANT AND SUSTAINABLE CITY SCRUTINY PANEL (12)
Cllr Paul Appleby (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Harmen Banger
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Paul Birch
Cllr Greg Brackenridge
Cllr Chris Burden

Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Chris Haynes
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Barbara McGarrity
Cllr Andrew McNeil
Cllr Mak Singh (Chair)

Page 128

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 4
APPOINTMENT OF REGULATORY AND OVERSIGHT, OTHER
PANELS/COMMITTEES/BOARDS AND ADVISORY GROUPS – 2021-2022

Audit and Risk Committee (8)
Cllr Harmen Banger
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Philip Bateman MBE
Cllr Alan Butt (Chair)

Cllr Craig Collingswood
Cllr Andrew McNeil
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Jonathan Yardley (Vice-Chair)

Licensing Committee (12) Statutory and Regulatory Committee
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal
Cllr Rashpal Kaur (Vice-Chair)*
Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Anwen Muston

Cllr Phil Page (Chair)*
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Ellis Turrell

*(Denotes Chair of Sub-committee)

Licensing Sub-committee (3)
Chair of Licensing Committee
Cllr Ellis Turrell
(Councillor Phil Page)
Vice-chair of Licensing Committee
(Councillor Rashpal Kaur)
(or nominees)
Planning Committee (12)
Cllr Olivia Birch
Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Keith Inston (Chair)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur

Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Anwen Muston (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Johnathan Yardley

Planning (Urgent Matters) Sub-committee (3)
Cllr Keith Inston (Chair)
Cllr Jonathan Yardley

Cllr Anwen Muston (Vice-Chair)
(or nominees)

Page 129

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Pensions Committee (10)
Cllr Olivia Birch
Cllr Craig Collingswood (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Keith Inston
Cllr Milkinder Jaspal (Chair)

Cllr Phil Page
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Paul Singh
Cllr Tersaim Singh

Local Pensions Board (2)
1 John Reynolds (employer
representative)

Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur (member
representative)

(Note: Local Pensions Board members should not be members of the
Pensions Committee)
Governance and Ethics Committee (10)
Cllr Simon Bennett
Cllr Paul Birch
Cllr Johnathan Crofts (Vice-Chair)
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Celia Hibbert

Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr John Reynolds
Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Tersaim Singh (Chair)
Cllr Wendy Thompson

(or nominees)
Corporate Parenting Board (10)
Cllr Mary Bateman
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Wendy Dalton
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar
Cllr Stephanie Haynes

Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Udey Singh
Cllr Paul Sweet

Councillor Development and Information Technology Advisory Group (7)
Cllr Simon Bennett
Cllr Claire Darke
Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal (Chair)
Cllr Rashpal Kaur

Cllr Sandra Samuels
Cllr Sue Roberts
Cllr Wendy Thompson

Councillor Champion
Councillor Development
and Information
Technology

Cllr Jaspreet Jaspal

Page 130

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Equalities Advisory Group (8)
Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Sohail Khan
Cllr Asha Mattu (Chair)

Cllr Anwen Muston
Cllr Andrew Randle
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Sandra Samuels

Councillor Champion
Equalities

Cllr Asha Mattu

Climate Change Advisory Group (7)
Cllr Paul Birch
Cllr Alan Butt
Cllr Adam Collinge
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar

Cllr Christopher Haynes
Cllr Barbara McGarrity (Chair)
Cllr Tersaim Singh

Councillor Champion
Climate Change

Cllr Barbara McGarrity

Capital Projects Member Reference Group
Cabinet Member for City Economy
(Cllr)
Cabinet Member for City Assets and
Housing
(Cllr)
Cabinet Member for Resources
(Cllr)

Cllr Zee Russell
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman

2 vacancies (Conservative)
Councillor Champions:
Wolverhampton for Everyone

Cllr Gillian Wildman

Digital Innovation

Cllr Qaiser Azeem

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 5
Representation on West Midlands Joint Authorities/Committees
(Municipal Year 2021-2022)

Authority/Committee

2021/22 representation

Regional
West Midlands Combined Authority
Board

Leader
Deputy Leader

West Midlands Combined Authority –
Overview and Scrutiny Committee
West Midlands Combined Authority –
Audit, Risk and Assurance
Committee

2 nominated substitutes:
Cllr Clare Simm
Cllr Tersaim Singh
Chair of Scrutiny Board
Cllr Paul Birch (nominated substitute)
Chair of Audit and Risk Committee
Cllr Labour Vacancy (nominated
substitute)

West Midlands Combined Authority –
Transport Delivery Committee

Cllr Chris Burden
(Lead Member)
Cllr Celia Hibbert

West Midlands Combined Authority
Wellbeing Board

Cabinet Member for Public Health and
Wellbeing

West Midlands Combined Authority
Investment Board
West Midlands Combined Authority
Housing & Land Delivery Board
West Midlands Combined Authority
Strategic Economic Plan Board
West Midlands Combined Authority
Public Services Reform Board
West Midlands Combined Authority
Environment Board
West Midlands Rail Executive Ltd

Cabinet Member for City Economy

West Midlands Crime and Police
Panel

Cabinet Member for Public Health and
Wellbeing
Cllr Paul Birch (nominated substitute)

West Midlands Fire and Rescue
Authority

Cllr Greg Brackenridge (Lead
Member)
Cllr Jasbinder Dehar (substitute)
Leader (V)
Deputy Leader
Cllr Ellis Turrell

West Midlands Shareholders
Airport Committee

Cabinet Member City Assets and
Housing
Cabinet Member for City Economy
Leader
Cabinet Member for City Environment
Leader– Principal Director on the
Board
Deputy Leader - Substitute Director

Page 133

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Black Country
City Deal and Growth Deal Advisory
Board

Notes: (i)
(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

Cabinet Member for City Economy
Director of Regeneration/ Director of
City Housing

*signifies nominated “lead member” for purposes of answering questions at
Council meetings in relation to the Joint Authority concerned.
**signifies substitute nominated “lead member” for purpose of answering
questions at Council meetings in relation to the Joint Authority concerned.
(V) signifies voting member where this needs to be determined.
These appointments include the power for each representative to appoint a
nominee except where the constitution of the body concerned precludes this
arrangement.

Page 134

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

APPENDIX 6
Representation on Other Bodies
(Municipal Year 2021-2022)

No

Body

2021 - 2022 representation

Association for Public Service Excellence

Cllr Steve Evans

Local Government Association

Leader
Deputy Leader
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Simon Bennett
Leader

National

(The Council does not make appointments
to sub groups).
Local Government Information Unit
Members’ Assembly
River Trent Regional Flood and Coastal
Committee

Cllr John Reynolds

Birmingham Airport Holdings Ltd

Cllr Phil Bateman (two-year
appointment ending June 2023)

Birmingham International Airport
Consultative Committee

Cllr Celia Hibbert

Convocation of the University of Aston

The Mayor
Cabinet Member for Education and
Skills
1 Labour Vacancy

Regional

Staffordshire, Stoke-on-Trent and
Wolverhampton Joint Local Access Forum
West Midlands Employers Management
Board

Cabinet Member for Governance

West Midlands Local Government
Association

Leader

West Midlands Regional Migration
Partnership Board

Leader

Black Country
Association of Black Country Authorities
Black Country Executive Joint Committee
Black Country Consortium

Leader
Chief Executive
Leader (voting member)

Black Country Local Enterprise Partnership

Leader
Chief Executive
Leader

Black Country Health Care

Cllr Jasbir Jaspal

Page 135

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

No

Body

2021 - 2022 representation

Age UK*

Cllr Phil Page (observer
status)
Cllr Phil Page (4 year term expires
2023)

City

Bilston Educational Charity
Bilston In Relief Charity

Cllr Phil Page (4 year term expires
2023)

City Centre Business Improvement District
Board

Cabinet Member for City Economy

City of Wolverhampton Building
Preservation Trust

1 Labour Vacancy
Cllr Andrew Randle

City-wide BME Forum (Ethnic Minority
Council)*

Cllr Obaida Ahmed

Haven Wolverhampton*

Cllr Lynne Moran

Health and Well-Being Together Board

Leader
Cabinet Member for Adults
Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People
Cabinet Member for Public Health
and Wellbeing
Cllr Wendy Thompson

Local Outbreak Engagement Board

Leader
Cabinet Member for Public Health
and Wellbeing
Cllr Wendy Thompson
Cllr Celia Hibbert

Penn Almshouses
Roger Hinton’s Charity

The Mayor
Deputy Mayor
Cllr Jacqueline Sweetman

Royal Wolverhampton NHS Trust

Cllr Rashpal Kaur

Safer Wolverhampton Partnership

Cabinet Member for Public Health
and Wellbeing

Wolverhampton Children’s and Families
Together Board

Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People
Cabinet Member for Education
Chair of the Children Young People
and Families Scrutiny Panel

Wolverhampton Citizens Advice Bureau*

Cllr Rashpal Kaur (observer status)

Page 136

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

No

Body

2021 - 2022 representation

Wolverhampton City Board

Leader
Deputy Leader

Wolverhampton Domestic Violence Forum*

Cllr Lynn Moran (observer status)

Wolverhampton Homes Board

Cllr Paul Appleby
Cllr Asha Mattu
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell

Wolverhampton Safeguarding Together
Board

Wolverhampton Standing Advisory Council
on Religious Education

Cabinet Member for Children and
Young People
Cabinet Member for Adults
Cllr Steve Evans
Cllr Celia Hibbert
Cllr Mak Singh
Cllr Paul Singh
Cabinet Member for Education and
Skills

Wolverhampton Voluntary Sector Council*

Cllr Tersaim Singh (observer status)

WV Living Board

Cabinet Member for City Assets &
Housing
Cabinet Member for Resources
Nomination from the major opposition
party
Nomination from Vibrant Sustainable
City Scrutiny Panel

Tettenhall Relief in Need and Educational
Charities

Mr Stephen Homer (four-year
appointment until May 2022)

St John’s Ambulance Ambassador

Cllr Linda Leach

Wolverhampton Sports Advisory Council

Note:

*These observer status appointments, to strategically important organisations and
groups, include the power for each representative to appoint a nominee except where
the constitution of the body concerned precludes this arrangement.

Page 137

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Meeting of the City Council
9 July 2021
Report title

Decision Made Under Urgent Action Powers

Referring body

N/A

Councillor to present
report

Councillor Ian Brookfield

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield
Leader of the Council

Accountable director

David Pattison, Director of Governance

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Director of Governance
01902 553840
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Report to be/has been
considered by

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
1. To note the decision made under the Council’s Urgent Action Powers.

Page 139

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

The purpose of this report is to inform the Council of a decision taken under the Council’s
Urgent Action Powers since the last Council meeting.

2.0

Background

2.1

Under the Council’s Constitution, Part 2, Article 12 the Council may take urgent decisions
under the following procedure:
The Leader (or in their absence the Deputy Leader) in consultation with the Chair of
Scrutiny Board, Opposition Leader and Chief Executive, shall be able to exercise the
powers of the Council in any matter of immediate urgency making the prompt exercise of
the powers of the Council desirable and which cannot await the next ordinary meeting of
the Council. Decisions made under this provision will be reported to the next meeting of
the Council

2.2

This report sets out the decision that has been made using the Urgent Action powers
under the Constitution since last reported to Full Council on 19 May 2021.

3.0

Urgent Action Powers

3.1

The table below details all the decision taken under the Council’s Urgent Action Power’s
since last reported to Full Council on 19 May 2021:

Part 1 – Open Items
Our Council
Decision maker
Date Approved
Leader of the Council
19 June 2021
Chief Executive
Title and summary of decision
In Year Appointments for the 2021-2022 Municipal Year

Contact Officer
David Pattison
01902 553840

1. Approve the appointment of Councillor Stephen Simkins and Councillor Paul Sweet to
the Pensions Committee for the remainder of the Municipal year 2021/2022.
2. Approve the appointment of Councillor Harman Banger to the Adults and Safer City
Scrutiny Panel for the remainder of the Municipal year 2021/2022.
3. Approve the appointment of Councillor Beverley Momenabadi to the Corporate
Parenting Board for the remainder of the Municipal year 2021/2022.
4. Approve the removal of Councillor Harman Banger from the Audit and Risk Committee
for the remainder of the Municipal year 2021/2022.
5. Approve the removal of Councillor Mak Singh from the membership and Chair of the
Vibrant and Sustainable City Scrutiny Panel.
6. Approve the appointment of Councillor Barbara McGarrity as Chair of Vibrant and
Sustainable City Scrutiny Panel and member of Scrutiny Board.

Page 140

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

7. Approve the removal of Councillor Mak Singh from the membership of the Scrutiny
Board.

Page 141

This page is intentionally left blank

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 13

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

Motion on Notice

Referring body/person

Councillor Ellis Turrell

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

N/A

Accountable director

David Pattison, Director of Governance

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison Director of Governance
Tel
01902 550320
Email
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for decision:
The Council is recommended to:
Consider the motion received in accordance with the Council’s procedure rules.

Page 143

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

For Council to consider the motion received:
a. Garden Waste Collection Service
Councillor Ellis Turrell will move the following motion:
“That this Council notes with disappointment the 8% increase in charges for the
Garden Waste Collection Service for 2022 without any detailed explanation or prior
scrutiny of this decision; notes that the principle of double taxation is fundamentally
wrong; and therefore agrees to abolish all charges for garden waste collection at the
next Budget and to provide this service as standard alongside household and recycled
waste collections.”

Page 144

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda Item No: 14

Meeting of the City Council
3 November 2021
Report title

Written Questions by Councillors

Referring person

Councillor Paul Singh, Councillor Andy Randle, Councillor
Jonathan Crofts, Councillor Wendy Dalton, Councillor Mak
Singh, Councillor Paul Appleby, Councillor Chris Haynes,
Councillor Udey Singh, Councillor Wendy Thompson,
Councillor Adam Collinge and Councillor Simon Bennett

Wards affected

All Wards

Cabinet Member with lead
responsibility

Councillor Ian Brookfield, Leader of the Council
Councillor Paula Brookfield, Governance and Equalities
Councillor Dr Mike Hardacre, Education, Skills and Work
Councillor Steve Evans, City Environment and Climate Change
Councillor Stephen Simkins, Deputy Leader Inclusive City
Economy
Councillor Obaida Ahmed, Digital City

Accountable director

David Pattison, Director of Governance

Originating service

Governance

Accountable employee

David Pattison
Tel
Email

Director of Governance
01902 550320
David.pattison@wolverhampton.gov.uk

Recommendation for action:
The Council is recommended to:
That Cabinet Members respond to the questions received in accordance with Council’s
procedure rules.

Page 145

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

1.0

Purpose

1.1

For Councillors to respond to the questions received:
a. Sporting Legends
Councillor Paul Singh to ask the Leader of the Council:
“I know that colleagues across this Chamber are proud to champion our city’s sporting
legends. Will the Leader work with me to celebrate their legacy, fantastic achievements,
and consider naming more streets after them?”
b. Driving Training
Councillor Andy Randle to ask the Leader of the Council:
“Unemployment amongst 18-24 year olds is unfortunately high here in Wolverhampton.
There are many driving opportunities now becoming available. Will the Council support
young people into driving training and promote these opportunities by committing funds
from the newly approved Wolves@Work 18-24 program?”
c. External Legal Services
Councillor Jonathan Crofts to ask the Cabinet Member for Governance and Equalities:
“Please can the portfolio holder detail how much the Council has spent this financial year
on external legal services and the purpose of each engagement?”
d. Unemployment Support
Councillor Wendy Dalton to ask the Cabinet Member for Education, Skills and Work:
“Wolverhampton has the joint-fourth highest unemployment rate in the country with the
latest figures showing nearly 15,000 people out of work in the city. Of those unemployed
nearly a quarter are 50 or older. Whilst support for our young people is welcome; what
support can Council the offer to those who are older and who may want to retrain or start
their own business?”
e. World Powerlifting Championship
Councillor Mak Singh to ask the Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate
Change:
“Wolverhampton has a proud sporting pedigree and a commitment to becoming an events
city; with this in mind will the portfolio holder commit the Council towards bringing the World
Powerlifting Championship to the city in 2022?”

Page 146

This report is PUBLIC
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

f. Fly Tipping
Councillor Paul Appleby to ask the Cabinet Member for City Environment and Climate
Change:
“After my bringing of officers from this Council and South Staffordshire District Council
together to introduce CCTV on Moseley Road, fly tipping has fallen by more than half
compared to the 6 months prior. Will the portfolio holder commit the funds necessary to
provide for permanent CCTV in this much valued green space to continue the progress
made?”
g. Westside Scheme
Councillor Chris Haynes to ask the Deputy Leader Inclusive City Economy:
“Please can the portfolio holder provide an update on the much-delayed Westside
scheme?”
h. Heath Town Baths
Councillor Udey Singh to ask the Deputy Leader Inclusive City Economy:
“Please can the portfolio holder provide an update on Heath Town Baths?”
i. Support to shops and small businesses
Councillor Wendy Thompson to ask the Deputy Leader Inclusive City Economy:
“Please can the portfolio holder detail what the Council is doing to support shops and other
small businesses in the city centre?”

j. Draft Black Country Plan
Councillor Adam Collinge to ask the Deputy Leader Inclusive City Economy:
“The CPRE has called for four sites to be removed from the Wolverhampton component of
the draft Black Country Plan. Will the portfolio holder heed this call, review their advice and
safeguard these green spaces for future generations?”

k. Digital Projects
Councillor Simon Bennett to ask the Cabinet Member for Digital City:
“The Digital City Portfolio has now been in existence for nearly 6 months. Please can the
portfolio holder briefly advise the Council what digital projects have been undertaken in this
time and her role in these?”

Page 147

This page is intentionally left blank

